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CHAPTER XXXIII.

Tippoo’s designs for indirectly conquering Travancore,
through the instrumentality of the Samorin, had
failed through his own persecutions—He now
attempts to employ the raja of Cochin—this also
fails—Threatens to seize him in Coclhin—Inter-
vention of the Travancorean lines—History of
transactions which led to the disputed question
regarding these lines, and produced the war of
1790— Geographical positton of Travancore—to
the north-east firedq—in Malabar fluctuating—
Notices of these variations—chiefly from Valentyn
—Anquetil-de-Peron—and Stavorinus— Records
—and. other manuscript authorities—Hyder’s de-
signs—his war with the Dutch in 1776—State of
the Travancorean lines— Peace with the Dutch—
Guarantee of 1784—Tippoo nevertheless pursues
his father's designs— Representation by Sir
Archibald Campbell— His own grounds of appre-
hensvon in 1788—Lord Cornwallis’s demand and
occupation of Guntoor, in virtue of the treaty of
'1768—Nizam Ali's demand of the exezution of
the other conditions, involving the conquest of
Mysoor— Barbarous incident in elephant hunting
—Previous correspondence with Sir Archibald
Campbell—Purchase of Cranganore and Ayacota
by the raja with his concurrence as asserted by
the raja—denied by the Government—discussed—
Tippoo’s complaint of protection given to his
rebellious subjects, by the raja and by the English
at Tellicherry—discussed—Governor of Madras
proposes to send commissioners— Tippoo attacks
the lines—turns the flank, and had apparently
carried his point, when he is repulsed with great
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loss, and personal danger—Sends for reinforce-
ments and guns— Pause of three months and a
half of preparation— Notice of embassies received
at that period.

HE measures of conversion in Malabar had been
obstructed in the north by the escape of the
Nairs to the English settlement of Tellicherry,
whence they embarked for Travancore, and in the
south by the connivance for a similar purpose of the
raja of Cochin, the acknowledged tributary* of Hyder
and Tippoo, although bound by more ancient ties to
the Dutch and the raja of Travancore. Tippoo was
particularly anxious to achieve the conquest of
Travancore, without appearing himself as a principal
in the war ; and in 1788 had actually adjusted with
the Samorin of Calicut, the restoration of a part of
his former territories, on the condition of his acting
for the Sultaun, but in his own name, in rendering
some antiquated claims the ground of the conquest of
Travancore. These projects, like many others, were
foiled by the Sultaun’s precipitation in beginning the
work of general circumcision, which the Samorin
resented, and joined in the general insurrection ; and
Tippoo was'now desirous, as a last indirect resource,
of employing the services of the raja of Cochin, as his
instrument to effect the same object. On returning
from his late visit of inspection, he sent.an order to
the raja of Cochin to repair to his camp ; this raja had
obeyed a similar summons in the preceding year, and
had seen little cause for aspiring to a repetition of
that honour : he accordingly wrote a submissive reply,
stating that he paid his péshcush (tribute) regularly,
and was ready to obey any other order, but assigned
the best pretences he was able, for intreating to be
excused from appearing at court. The Sultaun tem-
porized, and sent an envoy to the raja with a letter
acquiescing in his apology, but desiring that he would
* Vol. i. page 533.
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August. send his son, or minister, whom he would not detain
more than two days, intimating that he wished to
purchase from the Dutch the fort of Cochin, and
hoped to accomplish it by the raja’s means. A
second disobedience roused the Sultaun’s indignation,
and he openly declared, that ‘‘if they did not attend
his summons, he would come and fetch them by
force.” But to reach Cochin it was necessary to
pass the wall of Travancore, and for the purpose of
making intelligible the grounds of the subsequent
English war, of which the attack of this wall was the
immediate cause, it will be necessary to revert to
circumstances within the scope of this work, which
have been purposely omitted in the order of their
date, and to touch lightly on some earlier occurrences
in the revolutions™ of Malabar.

The principality of Travancore occupies the
southern extremity of the Indian peninsula. Its
shores to the eastward of Cape Comorin and opposite
to Ceylon, afford an easy communication for small
vessels, between that island and the main, with the
whole coast of Coromandel. Against the hostility of
the southern province of that country; (Tinnevelly),
a double line of works, facing from north to north-
east, aid the natural defence of the tremendous range
of mountains which terminate near the southern cape;
but from the period of the occupation of Tinnevelly,
by the disjointed authority of Mahommed Ali and the
English, and the establishment by that people, of a
commercial factory at Anjengo,’ on the western coast,

* They would make a curious volume, commencing with
Vasco de Gama, and the materials are easily accessible in the
Portuguese, Dutch, French, and English authors.

_ 1 Anjengo, a small sea port, 18 miles north-west of Trivan-
drum. In 1673 the Company established a factory here. The
factor was second in Council in Bowbay. In 1810 the com-
mercial resident was abolished and the station made subordinate
to the Political Resident at Trivandrum. Robert Orme was
born here in 1728, and Eliza Draper was the wife of & chief of
Anjengo.
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the relations of amity had been uninterrupted; the
raja was acknowledged on various occasions as the
ally of the English nation, and was specially so
recognized in the treaty of 1769 between Hyder and
the English, and in that of 1784, with the Sultaun
himself. On the coast of Malabar, the boundaries of
Travancore had followed the fluctuations of its
fortunes.

In 1662 and 3, the Dutch obtained, in open war-
fare from the Portugueze, various possessions on the
coast of Malabar, among which we find enumerated*
Cochin and Cranganore; and of course Ayacotta,f
situated on the northern extremity of a narrow stripe
of land called the island of Vipeen, extending uearly
twenty miles, the whole distance from the estuary of
Cranganore, to that of Cochin, and insulated by an
inland connexion of those estuaries. In the same
year 1663, the Dutch and the raja of Cochin on the
one part, concluded a treaty with the raja of Porca'
on the other, by which it is stipulated, that the latter
should pull down two hundred cubits of the wall built
towards or against the country of Cochin.} Now
Porca is about forty miles to the southward of Cochin,
and we must suppose that distinct principality to
have been then interposed between Cochin . and
Travancore; the Dutch by another treaty, stipulate
with the raja of Cochin, to build a fort at Cranganore,

* Valentyn. . .

[Valentign's Oud en Nieuw Qost. Indien, several volumes.]

t Official letters of the Duteh Government of Cochin and
Columbo, to the English, in the year 1790.

[Ayacotta.—Ayikotta, a village on the northern branch of
the Periyar river, 24 miles south-west of Cranganur; according
to local tradition St. Thomas landed here.]

! Porca.—Porakad, a village on the coast 42 miles south of
Cochin: It was formerly a separate principality, and passed to
Cochin in 1678 and to Travancore in 1746. Both the Dutoh
and Portuguese had settlements here, and the remains of the
Portuguese fort is still in existence.

$ Valentyn.

WH : ‘ 93¢
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(one of the contested points.) Anquetil-de-Peron in
1758, states the bounds of Travancore to have been
formerly beyond or south of Kalicoulan,' (which would
have confined the principality to the very apex of the
peninsula,) but for some time they had been at Porca.
In 1759,* the Samorin of Calicut over-ran the territo-
ries of the raja of Cochin, and possessed himself of
nearly the whole. In this extremity, the raja had
recourse to his southern neighbour, the raja of Travan-
core, who aided him with an army, under his celebrated
General Rama; and after a variety of sanguinary
conflicts in 1760 and 1761, the Samorin was com-
pletely and finally expelled. As the stipulated price
of this important service, the raja of Cochin formally
ceded certain' portions of territory to the raja of
Travancore, and among others a stripe of land extend-
ing from his own recently acquired possessions near
the hills, to the branch of an estuary which separates
the narrow island of Vipeen from the sea, on which
ceded territory and former possession, he immediately
commenced the erection of a line of works, as a
northern boundary towards Calicut, running east and
west from a point of the hills deemed inaccessible,
chiefly behind, or south of a river which discharges
itself into the estuary. On the southern bank of the
entrance of this estuary, was situated the military post
of Ayacotta, belonging to the Dutch, and on the
northern bank of the same estuary, on a point project-
ing southward, and about three miles farther up, was
the Dutch fort of Cranganore; such is the origin of
the lines of Travancore, and such the relative position
of the contested points of Cranganore and Ayacotta ;
and to complete this topographical sketch, it is only
necessary to add, that the territory of Cochin extend-
ed in front, or to the northward of these lines, from

! Kalicoulan.—Kayankulam, a village on the coast 14 miles
8.8.E. of Porakad In 1745 the Raja of Kayankulam submitted
to Travancore.

® Manuscript authorities.
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ten to thirty miles, the remaining portion of the
principality being in the rear, or to the south of these
lines. When Stavorinus visited Cochin in 1776,* he
found the Dutch Company at war with Hyder, and
adverts with tolerable accuracy to the nature of these
transactions, by stating that ** the lands of Travancore
had from time to time, been suffered to be extended
to the eastward, behind the lands of Cochin, as far as
the river of Cranganore, so that the King of Cochin
has but a little space of ground left to him.” We
have seen, that on Hyder's re-conquest of Malabar in
1778, he appointed to the Government Sree Nowas
Row Berkée, one of his oldest officers, in whose talents
and attachment he placed the most implicit reliance,
assisted in the military department by Sirdar Khdn,
a name which Stavorinus transforms into Cha-Der-
gam. In 1775, Hyder desiring to possess himself of
Travancore, a valuable possession, which would place
him as it were on the left flank of his enemy’s line of
defence, in his meditated invasion of Coromandel,
requested of the Dutch company a free passage for
his troops through their possessions to Travancore.
The refusal of this request, and the delay of a reply to
his letter to the Supreme Government of Batavia,
enraged him; and Sirdar Khan, with about ten
thousand men, ravaged the country with fire and
sword, and laid siege to the Dutch fort of Chetwa,®
about ten miles to the northward of Cranganore;
and it was at this time that the raja of Travancore,
made an actual purchase from the Dutch, of a
stripe of land, near the north point of Vipeen,: on
which he continued the lines across that island, a
breadth of about 1,500 yards, and in the rear of the

* Stavorinus, cap. 12 & 18.

! Chetwa.—Chetuvayi, s village in the Ponnani Taluq of Mala-
bar District, Madras, 41 miles N.N.W. of Cochin. 1In 1715 the
Zamorin of Calicut permitted the English to build a factory here;
in 1717 it.was taken by the Dufch; in 1776 it was taken by
Hyder. It became an English possession at the peace of 1792.
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Dutch Fort at Ayacotta. Reinforcements from Ceylon,
in November 1776, induced the Dutch to attempt the
relief of Chetwa, which failed: the place fell, and
they confined themselves to the strong occupation of
Cranganore and Ayacotta,* whilst the %ings of Cochin
and Travancore threw up strong and forlified lines
on the opposite side of the river, in order to defend
therr lands from an iriuption on that side. The lines,
if actually commenced fourteen years sooner, were
probably now constructed on a new plan, as both
parties seein to refer to 1775, as the date of the con-
struction of the works existing in 1789; for the
context does not seem to apply to the lines across
Vipeen, actually constructed, for the first time, in
1775. After the capture of Chetwa, Hyder’s general,
considering the attack of the lines as an enterprize
beyond his strength, remained inactive; and seemed
to be satisfied with the possession of the district of
Cochin, situated north of the lines. Mr. Moens, the
governor of Cochin, for the purpose of trying the
disposition of the two rajas, proposed to them a plan
of offensive operations, to which the raja of Travan-
core gave a distinct negative; declaring that his
engagements with Mahommed Ali and the English,
assured to him their aid in the defence of his own
possessions if attacked by Hyder, but not if he were
himself the aggressor. In January, 1777, the letter
and presents from Batavia arrived, and Mr. Moens
thought it best to send them with an envoy to Hyder,
who graciously accepted this advance, and affected to
attribute the late hostilities to mutual misappre-
bension. Stavorinus ascribes this unexpected facility,
1st, to his war with the Mahrattas, 2d, a revolt of
the Nairs, as well as Mapillas, and 3d, the mproved
state of the Travancore wall, including in that line of
defence the fortifications of Cranganore and Ayacotta,
constituting a system of defensive means, which, in
his opinion, Hyder could not attack with much hope

* Stavorinus.
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of success. The lines however, although very
sufficient with regard to the dimensions and construc-
tion of the ditch and rampart, were really more
imposing than effectual, as throughout the dangerous
extent of thirty iniles, few points were closed in the
rear and those imperfectly, so that nearly the whole
would fall on carrying a single point.

From that period, although no specific question
had been raised regarding the lines, and although a
special article in the treaty of 1784 included the raja
of T'ravancore (of course as his territory then stood)
among the mriends of the English, on whom the
Sultaun stipulated that he would not make war;
he had nevertheless not ceased to appreciate the
original policy of his father, nor to undervalue the
advantage of a possession which would enable him to
make the first step from his own frontiers at once on
Tinnevelly and Arcot. The Sultaun’s investigation
of the routes, and the still more alarming attempt to
induce the raja of Cochin, to claim the ground on
which the lines were erected, had suggested the fears
and the hopes, which in the preceding year, the raja
of Travancore had conveyed ta the Government of
Madras; and Sir Archibald Campbell, in frankly com-
municating to the Sultaun the representations of the
raja, added, that any aggression on that ally, would
be considered by the English as a violation of the
treaty of 1784, and equivalent to a declaration of
war. The answer of the Sultaun was not at that time
understood, although it now abundantly unfolds his
subsequent pretensions ; it stated that the interposi-
tion of the territories of his dependent, the raja of
Cochin, prevented the possibility of collision between
him and Travancore, and professed, in terms of
sufficient courtesy, his desire for the maintenance of
the relations of amity with the English state. In
fact his measures and preparations were not then
sufficiently matured. Tge character of Sir Archibald
Campbell, the first military Governor of Madras, had
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unquestionably influenced the prudential tenor of his
correspondence, and checked the precipitation of his
measures ; that distinguished officer had returned to
England in February 1789, the levies were nearly
completed, and independently of his own designs
against the English, which were at no time doubtful,
he had reasons which we shall endeavour to explain,
for apprehending that he might be anticipated by
that power.

On the death of BasAlut Jung, the reversionary
right of the English Government to the province of
Guntoor, was no longer doubtful, and Lord Corn-
wallis, after some prudential delay, deputed in 1788
a political resident (Sir John Kennaway) to Nizamn
Ali, for the double purpose of adjusting all accounts
regarding the péshcush of the other circars, and
demanding the cession of Guntoor ;' and the military
preparations which accompanied the demand were
efficient in securing compliance. Nizam Ali, who
had recently obtained sufficient experience of his

! On March 5, 1787, Cornwallis wrote to Dundas as follows :—
“The business of the Guntoor Circars is a very delicate one, and
requires the most mature reflection. There are several reasons
which make it very doubtful whether this would be a proper
time for us to call on the Nizam to settle accounts and deliver it
up. I am by no means cleur that upon a fair investigation,
sotting the revenues of the Guntoor Circars received by the
Nizam, against the peshcush due tc him from us, there would
not still be a considerable balance due to him from us, which we
could not easily make good. Our demand of the Ciredrs from
the Nizam in the hour of his distress, would not only appear
ungenerous, but would undoubtedly hurt him in the negotia-
tions for a peace with Tippoo.”

After a year’s contest, peace was concluded between Tippu
and the allies. The prospect of a war with France had passed
away. On June 16, 1788, Cornwallis laid a minute before the
Board in which he discussed the material difference in the political
situation of affairs between the present period and the last year
when the claim of Guntoor was under discussion. He proceeded
to state that: * The pacification, established in Europe between
the Courts of England and Versailles, has removed the principal
grounds of apprehension formerly entertained, on account of the
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inferiority to Tippoo Sultaun, and was mortified at
the necessity arising from a similar feeling, of ceding
Guntoor, which he anxiously wished to retain,
determined on sending special embassies, both to
Tippoo Sultaun, and the English, with the apparent
view of forming, with one or the other, as circumn-
stances might dictate, such an intimate alliance, as
should secure him not only against the eventual
hostility of the other, but should afford that sort of
general protection, which he could not but feel to be
necessary to a feeble and declining state. The
sacred pledge offered to Tippoo Sultaun, affords
strong evidence of his preference to that Mahom-
medan alliance, and his lofty rejection of the condi-
tions by which that alliance might have been secured,
rendered his connection with the English, an affair
of necessity rather than of choice. Meer-Abd-ul-
Kasim, the envoy to Lord Cornwallis, opened his
negotiation by adverting to the recent demand of the
cession of the Guntoor sircar, in virtue of the treaty

intrigues of the French with Tippoo and the Nizam, and of their
interference with a view to promote or assist hostilities.”

He pointed out that their knowledge of the views and situa-
tion of the different powers of Hindostan were also' more perfect
and satisfactory, and the intermediate time which had elapsed
had afforded them an opportunity of improving their friendly in-
tercourse with the Mahratta State. The Nizam, he told the
Board, was certainly ill prepared for war, and with respect to
Tippu, the Board had no reason to conclude that he was either
better prepared, or more inclined to hostilities now than he was
at the close of the last year.

‘*“Every movement of a formidable power naturally creates
alarm in those whose situation exposes them to danger from it.
And it is upon this principle alone, that the apprehensions sug-
gested in the correspondence now under consideration, ?crti-
cularly by the Rajah of Travancore, must be accounted for.”

The Board came to the following oautious oconclusion :
“The Court of Directors have decided upon the recovery of
Guntoor; and the Board, being convinced that no period can
oeour in whioh the claim can be asserted with less risk to
the interests of the Company than at present, do not deem
themselves authorised to suspend that determination. It is only
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of 1768, and by demanding the execution of the
remaining provisions of that treaty, which it will be
recollected, extended the full length of the conquest
of Mysoor. By the peace of 1769 with Hyder, the
English recognized his sovereignty over the territories
he then possessed, and thus virtually abrogated every
part of the treaty of 1768, with Nizam Ali, which
related to the conquest of these territories. The
confederacy of 1780, of which at one time Nizam Ali
did not scruple to avow himself to be the author,
might be deemed a second abrogation of the spirit of
that treaty ; and the termination of that contest by
the peace of 1784 with Tippoo Sultaun, constituted,
on the part of the English, a third abrogation of the
treaty of 1768. The act of parliament prohibiting
the Governor-General from declaring war, or entering
into any treaty for making war, against any native
state, except when hostilities had commenced or im-
pended, and the express orders of his sovereign and
the India Company to the same effect, were so many

incumbent upon them in the execution of the measure, to act
with caution and moderation.”

In the meantime Captain Kennaway, ‘‘a gentleman
well acquainted with the country, languages, and customs’’
had left Calcutta in the beginning of May for Hyderabad to
make demand from the Nizam for an immediate surrender of
Guntoor. The virtuous Cornwallis, who was also a diplo-
matist, writes of the Nizam to the Secret Committee: *‘ the
duplicity of his character and his talents for intrigue being
likewise generally admitted, I considered myself as called upon
by public duty to take every precaution of your Government
against the disgrace of disappointment, and I thought it there-
fore equally prudent and necessary to leave him but a very
short time after making the requisition for consulting with
any of his neighbours on the means of opposition, and to direct
that a good body of troops should be assembled near the Circar
under other pretexts, to be ready to act if necessary in support
of our demand of his performance of the terms of the treaty.”
The Madras Government, acting according to the instruc-
tions of the Governor-General, conveyed under various pre-
texts a body of troops to the neighbourhood of the Guntoor
province.
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arguments in bar to the execution or renewal of the
offensive engagements proposed. But in a letter to
Nizam Ali, dated the 1st July, 1789, which may be
deemed the final result of Abd-ul-Kasiin’s mission,
and which is expressly declared to be equally binding
as a* treaty, after reciting these prohibitions, and
explaining the grounds of the demands regarding
Guntoor, his Lordship proceeds, not to announce the
annulment of the treaty of 1768, but to declare his
‘“intentions that it should be carried into full effeet ;
to explain one of its articles, which regulates the
demand of a subsidiary force to be furnished by the
Company to Nizam Ali, and to enumerate the powers
against whom that force shall not be employed, which
enumeration recites by name every power of Decan
and the South, with the single exception of Tippoo

While Captain Kennaway was on his journey, Lord Corn-
wallis received advice from Sie Archibald- Campbell, Governor
of Madras, that the Raja of Cherika had commenced hostilities
on the Company’s possessions at Tellicherry by order of Tippu.
*“ Sir Archibald appears likewise to be decidedly of opinion,”
Cornwallis wrote to Kennaway, *‘ that Tippoo will immediately
attack the Raja of Travancore. This may, however, I think, be
doubtful.” The appearance of hostile designs which Sir
Archibald Campbell perceived in Tippu led Cornwallis to con-
sider again the advisability of laying aside for a time the
claim to Guntoor. Alive to the necessity of not offending the
Nizam and making him an ally of Tippu, he told the British
Envoy to act with diplomatic prudence. “ Unless this alarm
should be blown over, previous to your arrival at Hyderabad, of
which you cannot fail of having certain information, you will, of
course, recollect that part of your instructions, and, instead of
declaring the real object of your mission, confine yourself to the
general expressions of friendship and assurances of our earnest
desire to cultivate a good understanding between the two
governments.” The alarm blew over. Kennaway, on his arrival
at Hyderabad, obtained a prompt and peaceful cession of the
Guntoor Circar. (Forrest: Selections from State Papers; Corn-
wallis, Introduction, pp. 35-37.)

* It was afterwards so pronounced by a resolution of the
House of Commons.

[?‘orrest: Selections from State Papers; Cornwallis, pp
38-43.
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Sultaun.' The letter further goes on to state that
“ circumstances have totally prevented the execution
of those articles of the treaty of 1768, which relate to
the Dewanny of the Carnatic Balagaut; but should
it hereafter happen that the Company, with his
Highness's assistance, should obtain possession of the
countries mentioned in those articles, they will
strictly perform the stipulations in favour of his
Highness and the Mahrattas.” It is highly in-
structive to observe a statesman justly extolled for
moderate and pacific dispositions, thus indirectly
violating a law enacted for the enforcement of these
virtues, by entering into a very intelligible offensive
alliance, which, although the effective revival of the
abrogated conditions of an old treaty, was certainly
neither a declaration of war, nor that technical
instrument named a treaty for making war, executed
subsequently to the prohibitory act of parliament ;
and his Lordship’s observations on the same restric-
tions, written eight months afterwards, in his
dispatches to the resident at Poona, not only furnish
the best comment on their inconvenience, but seem
to intimate an unconsciousness of the evasion which
has been noticed. ‘‘ Some considerable advantages,”
his Lordship observes, ‘‘ have no doubt been ex-
perienced by the system of neutrality which the
Legislature required of the governments of this
country ; but it has at the same time been attended
with the unavoidable inconvenience of our being
constantly exposed to the necessity of cornmencing a
war, without having previously secured the assistance
of efficient allies:” ‘‘for some years past we have
been almost daily obliged to declare to the Mahrattas
and the Nizam, that we were precluded, &c. &c. &c.”

! The powers mentioned in the treaty were—Pundit Pirdhan
Peishwa, Ragojeé Bhonsla, Madajee Sindia, and other Mahratta
Chiefs, the Nawab of Arcot and Nawab Vazier, the Rajas of
Tanjore and Travancore. (Aitchison: Treaties, Engagements
and Sunnads, Vol. IX, p. 44.)
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It may not perhaps be necessary to examine, whether
the direct violation of that article of the treaty of
Mangalore, which most sensibly affected national
honour and individual feeling by the brutal detention
of native British subjects, as well as the population
of Coromandel, were not at all times, since March
1784, not only a legitimate, but an imperious ground
of war, of which the time was fairly and honourably
in the hands of the British Government; nor is it
necessary to recite the innumerable ninor insults to
which our frontiers had been incessantly exposed, in
consequence of experienced impunity ; but adverting
to the course of transactions which have been
described, it was not to be expected that Tippoo
Sultaun should view, as a slip of the pen, the excep-
tion of his name from the enumeration of friendly
powers not to be attacked; or misapprehend the
eventual arrangements dependent on the conquest of
his dominions. The early occupation of Travancore
which he contemplated as an easy achievement, was
certainly, the most efficient preparation he could
make for such a contest, and he commenced his
march fromn Coimbetoor with a force* abundantly
sufficient for the service. '

In passing the woods of Animallee, he took the
diversion of elephant hunting, a field sport sufficiently
remote from the objects of history, but forced into
that province by the circumstances of c¢haracteristic
brutality which it developed. The elephant suggests
to the mind of the Hindoo, associations which render
it in some degree a sacred animal,f and to kill a
female elephant is among the worst violations of the
law which prohibits the extinction of animal life.
It was this very reason that influenced the Sultaun’s

* Regular infauntry, 20,000 ; eflicient spearmen and match-
lock-men, 10,000 ; horse, 5,000 ; field guns, 20.

t GQanesa, represented with an elephant’s trunk, corresponds
to the Janus, and in some respects to the Terminus of western
mythology.
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selection, for the performance of a common military
exercise, to prove the temper of the biade, and the
skill of the swordsman, which is usually practised on
a sheep; the expert swordsman being he who can
completely separate the animal into two distinct
parts by a single cut across the back. The female
elephant was chained to the ground by her four feet,
and the chiefs of the army being assembled for that
purpose, the Sultaun made the first cut, the example
was followed with reluctunce even by the Mahom-
medans ; but. this barbarian had the cruelty to insist,
that even many of the bramins present should cut in
their turn; and it is to this enormity that they
continue until this day to ascribe his subsequent
repulse from the wall of Travancore.

Long before his departure from Coimbetoor, his
intentions were of public notoriety, not only in his
own army, but in every part of the south ; and on his
approach, the Dutch governor of Cochin, Mr. Von
Anglebec, called on the raja of Travancore, to perform
the conditions of a treaty of thirty-four years stand-
ing, which obliged him, in the event of an appre-
hended attack, to reinforce the posts of Cranganore
and Ayacotta; which was accordingly done. The
Government of Madras, to whomn the raja earnestly
applied for assistance, did not contemplate these
Dutch posts as the left flank of a line, which, if
carried, must necessarily be followed by the abandon-
ment of the whole position; and did not propose
arrangements to the Dutch, for combining the
defensive means in which the two nations were
equally interested. An aid of two battalions had
been sent in consequence of Sir Archibald Campbell’s
previous negotiations, but they were now expressly
prohibited from being employed on any other than
the particular part of that line of defence, which'was
built on the raja’s own territory ; while the Sultaun
very plausibly argued, that the line actually inter-
sected the country of his tributary, and was built on



861

his property, and not on that of Travancore: and
that the raja of Travancore had no right to build
a wall on the territory of Tippoo Sultaun, nor to
exclude him from going to every part of his own
territory of Cochin, on either side of that wall.
The raja thus terrified, at being refused aid from the
Government of Madras, for the protection of his line
of defence because one part of it was not his own,
renewed a long pending negotiation for the purchase
of Cranganore and Ayacotta. A transfer of territory
by two parties, which changes the political relations
of a third, is certainly liable to be questioned ;
unless, as in this instance, where the transfer is
clearly and indispensably necessary to the political
existence of the state; but from the moment of
its occurrence, this transfer was brought into the
front of the Sultaun’s grievances: he represented
to the Government of Madras, that these posts were
built on the lands of his tributary the raja of Cochin,
for which lands the Dutch paid a rent, in the same
manner as any other of his ryots, for the field
which they tilled; and Mr. Hollond, the Governor,
declared -in his reply, that if on investigation
these allegations should be substantiated, he would
compel the raja of Travancore to return them to the
Dutch. The Sultaun was incapable of comprehending
the value of truth, even as a virtue of conveniénce :
and the independent possession of those places by
the Dutch as a conquest from the Portuguese a
century before the existence of his own dynasty,
so completely established the absolute falsehood of
this assumption as to overturn along with it, the
reasonings founded on rigid truth, by which he might
bave contended@ with better success for the right
of passing vo every part of his tributary possessions.
Mr. Hollond took the line of decidedly disap-
proving these purchases without the previous concur-
rence of the English Government: the raja broadly
affirmed the concurrence of Sir Archibald Campbell,
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communicated to him through Brigade Major Ban-
nerman, deputed on a political mission to his court
in 1788. Mr. Hollond denied the existemce of such
concurrence, on the public records : but did not refer
to Major Bannerman for farther information regard-
ing the grounds on which this assertion was support-
ed. In this state of public information regarding the
alleged concurrence of Sir A. Campbell, the subject
was taken up in the British Parliament: the Court
of Directors was required to investigate; a reference
was made to Sir A. Campbell, then in England, who
did not recollect the existence of such a sanction,
and inferred that Major Bannerman must have over-
stepped his authority if such sanction had been inti-
mated to the raja. The Court of Directors followed
up the investigation, by ordering the proper enquiries
to be made at Madras. Sir Charles Oakley, when
acting as Governor during General Medows’s' absence
in the field, in 1791, demanded from Major Banner-
man an explanation of the contested fact; and the
following is the result of that correspondence :

It will be recollected, that the only part of the
lines really built on the territory of Cochin, was
that which crossed the island of Vipeen in the rear
of Ayacotta.” If the raja of Cochin, or Tippoo, his

! General William Medows, who had entered the army in
1756 and served in Germany and in America in 1782, arrived
at Madras with transports. He was present under Admiral
Sir Edward Hughes in the naval actions against Suffrein, and
after returning to England was appointed in 1788 Governor
of Bombay and two years later transferred to Madras. He
assumed office in Madras on the 20th February 1790. Owing
to his absence in the war with Mysore, Sir Charles Oakley, who
entered the Madras service in 1767 and was Second in Counecil
in 1790, acted as President during Medows's absence on field
service, and on 1st August 1792 when General Medows resigned,
assu;x;;d office as Governor. He resigned on grounds of health
in 1794.

2 In the ‘ Errata’ Wilks remarks as regards this passage:
*“There is an error in the reasoning regarding the lines across
Vipeen, fromn my having omitted to modify the passage to con-
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sovereign, should conquer or purchase from the
Dutch the post of Ayacotta in their front, the right
of the raja of Travancore to prevent his passing
through that part of the lines to the territory of
Cochin would at least be questionable, and could
only be grounded on the imperious plea of self-
preservation. The Dutch had shewn a disposition
to part with Ayacotta and Cranganore; and it was
feared that they might even sell themn to Tippoo,
rather than incur the risk and expence of defending
them. Major Bannerman, whose mission had a direct
reference to the means of defending Travancore,
perceiving that in the event of an attack, the raja
would have the alternative of defending lines built
on the territory of the Sultaun’s tributary, or of
abandoning their whole extent by laying open their
left flunk, strongly urged him to make the purchase of
Ayacotta. The raja entered warmly into the measure,
but the negotiation could not be ¢oncluded without
a reference to Batavia; and Major Bannerman, in-
dependently of the considerations above stated, deem-
ing Ayacotta beyond competition the most eligible
post for the British troops about to be subsidized
by che raja, suggested to Sir Archibald Campbell the
expediency of his writing to the Dutch Government
to hasten the transfer. In answer to this proposi-
tion, Sir Archibald Campbell states his doubts re
garding the eligibility of Ayacotta for the intended
purpose. “ The troops,” he adds, “ought to be
stationed in the place from whence they could with
the greatest ease and expedition invade Tippoo’s
country; and unless the benefit likely to arise from

form to the fact of the purchase stated in page 341 which
was ascertained, and in that page corrected after the narrative
had been written."”

" The passage referred to is as follows :—'' and it was at this
time that the Raja of Travancore, made an actual purchase from
the Dutch of a stripe of land, near the north point of Vipeen on
which he continued the line across that island, a breadth of
ahout 1,500 yards, and in rear of the Duteh Fort at Ayacotta.’’
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poasessing the island®* of Ayacotta should be made
to appear greater than I as yet consider it from your
description, it would be wnnecessary for me to apply
to the Dutch Government oo the subject.” T If (as
Major Bannerman argugs), Sir Archibald Campbell’s
Government had disapproved the proposed purchase,
it was inoumbent on them to say so; but Sir Archi-
bald merely declingd interference, not because the
measure was impolitic in itself, but because he
deemed his own interference for its accomplishment
to be unnecessary. The envoy therefore considered
such an answer regarding a measure strongly urged
by himself, to do much more than imply sanction,
and did state that inference to the raja. He goes on
to relate, that in July, 1789, after being relieved by
Mzr. Powney, and on returning to Madras, he did, in
repeated conferences with Mr. Hollond, the Governor,
distinctly apprize him of the raja’'s intention to make
the purchase; of the steps that had been taken with
the Dutch Government, and of the great importance
of the measure : that no disapprobation was expressed
to him on that occasion, or conveyed to Mr. Powney ;
although the Governor did long afterwards express
great disapprobation at the actual completion of the
measure thus previously explained. It is therefore
clear, that the raja of Travancore stands fully ab-
solved from the charge of making the purchase,
without the previous sanction of the British Govern-
ment; and that Major Bannerman stands equally
absolved from the imputation of overstepping his
authority in conveying the sanction of his Govern-
ment, or of erroneous judgment in the importance
which he attached to the possession of Ayacotta,
which in point of fact was selected as the best
position on the coast by the able officer who soon
afterwards arrived with reinforcernents fron Bombay.

* The island having Ayacotts at its northern extremity,
is usually named from Vipeen, at its southern end-
t12th August, 1788.
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It is affirmed moreover in this correspandence, that
the Sultaun himself recognized the right of sale, by
offering to the Dutch double the sum contracted to
be paid by the raja.

The protection afforded by the raja of Travancore,
to the Sultaun’s rebellious subjects, was a branch
of complaint which touched more intelligible ground;
but this ground was not defended by the Governor of
Madras, although rudely assailed by the Sultaun's
coarse assertion, that the English chief of Tellicherry
had taken bribes for the protection of fugitive Nairs,
and for permitting them to emnbark for Travancore ;
a permission which would probably have been tacitly
accorded by any Englishman, without a bribe : and if
the facilities unquestionably afforded to this cruelly
oppressed people, might, under other circumstances,
be deemed imprudent, the broad fact of Tellicherry
having been placed, in all respects; excepting open
hostility, in a state of blockade, by a cordon of
the Sultaun’s troops, during the whole period from
the peace of 1784, till the war of 1790, absolves
the public authorities at that place, from every
obligation of delicacy, regarding these unhappy fugi-
tives. The charitable aid and protection atforded to
them by the raja of Travancore, rather belonged
to the class of moral duties, than political righus.
The Governor of Madras, however, required him to
discontinue the hospitable asylum which the unhappy
Nairs had hitherto found in Travancore, and that
chief adopted the alternative of disavowing, and
endeavouring to conceal a fact which he did not feel
to be disgraceful. These discussions were protracted
till the month of December; Mr. Hollond had pro-
posed the appointment of commissioners for the
investigation and amicable adjustment of all the
points in dispute, but the Sultaun had determined
on a different issue. His camp was established
at about six miles to the northward of the principal
gate of the lines; and on the night between the 28th
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and 29th of December, he ordered the following
disposition ;

Two cushoons of regular infantry, all the cavalry
and irregular infantry, accompanied by the spearmen
of the royal retinue, to indicate his own presence,
were ordered to manceuvre at day-light in front of the
principal gate, and at ten o’clock at night he marched
“with 14,000 infantry and 500 pioneers, by a. ¢ircuitous
route, discovered to him by a native of the country, to
turn the right flank of the lines which terminated at
a precipice supposed to be inaccessible. The demnon-
strations in front drew the attention of the enemy as
had been expected; and he found himself soon after
day-light in possession of a considerable extent of
rampart on the right flank almost without opposition.
It was his object to gain the gate about nine miles
from the point of entrance; to open it to the division
manceuvring in its front, and to establish his whole
army within the lines in one day. Although the
opposition was feeble, it was near nine o’clock before
the whole of the troops had entered, and were
prepared to advance in force. After he had advanced
between two and three miles, some distant move-
ments were perceived, and the Sultaun thinking it
possible that he might not fully accomplish his
object on that day, and be obliged to take post and
bring up his guns, ordered the pioneers to throw
down a certain portion of the rampart into the ditch
(about 16 feet wide and 20 feet deep), and to make a
wide and solid road, and easy communication with
the camp. The pioneers had been marching nearly
twelve hours, and were not much disposed to vigorous
exertion: the berm as well as the ditch was over-
grown with thorny shrubs and bawboos, and the
work proceeded very tardily. In the meanwhile the
troops advanced in one columa along the rampart,
the Travancoreans retreating from each successive
tower ; the resistance at each successively encreasing,
until the column approached a building within the
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works, constituting a square enclosure, made use of
as a Inagazine, storehouse, and barrack. The fugitives
knew that support was at hand, but were not as
yet in sufficient strength to maintain themselves:
they however made a stand at this square, and drew
into it a smali gun, and some grape from their
now useless lines, which did good service against the
head of the column ; the casualties of the day had
fallen heavily on the leading corps ; and the Sultaun
ordered up a fresh and select one, with orders to
carry the building at the point of the bayonet,
the corps relieved being directed to fall into the rear.
The order, besides being ill-executed, was misappre-
hended ; and at the mnoment this corps was about to
retire along the flank of the column, a party of about
twenty men. which the Travancoreans bad sent into
the thick cover which here approached within a few
yards of the rampart, threw in a regular platoon
on the flank, which killed the officer commanding,
and threw the corps into inextricable disorder and
flight. The relieving corps, awkwardly advancing
along the same tlank, was met and checked by an
impetuous mass of fugitives ; the next corps caught
the infection, the panic became general, and the
confusion irretrievable. The Sultaun, himself, was
borne away.in the crowd ; the rear, now become -the
front, rushed into the intended road across the
ditch, which had been no farther prepared than
by cutting down the underwood, and throwing a part
of the rampart on the berm; the foremost leaped
or were forced into the ditch; and such was the
pressurc of the succeeding mass, that there was no
alternative but to follow. The undermost, of course,
were trampled to death ; and in a short time the
bodies. by which the ditch was nearly filled, enabled
the remainder to pass over. The Bultaun was
precipitated with the rest, and was only saved by the
exertions of some steady and active chélas, who
raised him on their shoulders, and enabled him to
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ascend the counterscarp, after having twice fallen
back in the attempt to clamber up ; and the lameness,
which occasionally continued until his death, was
occasioned by the severe contusions he received on
this occasion. His palankeen remained in the ditch,
the bearers having been trodden - to death, his
seals, rings, and personal ornaments, fell as trophies
into the hands of the enemy ; and the fortune of a day,
which was turned by 20 men, cost the Sultaun’s
army upwards of two thousand. The English dis-
patches of that period describe the ditch to have been
filled with bales of cotton by the Mysoreans, for
the purpose of passing in, and that the accidental
inflammation of that substance, had compelled them
to seek another passage. All the Mysoreans with
whom the author has conversed, deny the existence
of a bale of cotton in the army; but all affirm, that
the mass of bodies in the ditch were consumed by fire
after the retreat ; fuel, as they suppose, having been
added for the purpose by the Travancoreans. But
when the mass of wood felled for clearing the road,
the cumbustible materials of their dress, and the
contents of their cartouch boxes are considered, an
accidental spark, near the close of the retreat, may
furnish a sufficient explanation of the fact to those
who have witnessed similar scenes.*

The Sultaun on clearing the ditch, made the
best of his way on foot towards camp, but was soon
furnished with the conveyance of a common dooley,
to bear him unperceived to his tent. In a mixed
paroxysm of rage and humiliation, he swore that he
would remain fixed on that encampment until he
should carry this contemptible wall. He accordingly
ordered the recal of Burhdn-u-Deen from Coorg, and
of nearly the whole of his detachments for the
conversion of the infidels from Malabar. Battering-

* The mass of fugitives who choaked the Mysoor gate of
Bangalore, after the assault in 1791, was a horrible example,
without any fuel, but the dress and the cartouch boxes.
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guns were to be brought fromn Seringapatam and
Bangalore ; and three months and a half of ostensible
negotiation and real preparation for attack affords a
pause, in which we shall first advert to the issue
of some prior embassies destined to strengthen his
means of aggression, of which his envoys made their
personal reports during this interval; and we shall
then proceed to relate the influence on the English
councils of the abortive attempt which has just been
described.



CHAPTER XXXIV.

Mission and subsequent em bassy to Constantinople and
eventually to Paris— Embassy arrives at Bussora,
and after some delay at Constantinople— Negoti-
ation somewhat ludicrous— Fabulous genealogy—
The plague—Loss of 565 of the suite—Embark
Jor Alerandria—where they hear of the embassy
to France by sea, and prepare to return—>by Caziro
—Suez—Jedda—Mecca— Medina— Exaction of
the Shereef of Mecca, evaded by a singular device
of Gholdum Ali—Arrive at Calicut on the day
of the Sultaun’s repulse from the lines—Out of
eleven hundred, bring back sixty-eight— Ezpence
of the embassy— Value received—dJoke of the
man-eaters— Effect of the intelligence of the attack
of the lines of Travancore on the Government of
Madras—and Lord Cornwallis—Explicit in-
structions to Madras, in the preceding November
—They animadvert on the orders instead of
obeying them—Last and most instructive example
of the defective constitution, aholished by the
powers commztted to Lord Cornwallis—Sultaun’s
tardy notice of the attack of the lines—Singular
history of his own defeat—Resumes the attack by
regular approaches—assaults and succeeds— Con-
duct of the officer commanding the English detach-
meat— Reinforcement under Colonel Hartley—
unequal to any but defensive operations— No con-
tact with the Sultaun’s troops—Cranganore taken
—T'sppoo overruns the plain country—Ezample
of mortality from small-pox— Public ceremony on
destroying the lines—Visit of Macnamara—who
admonishes him regarding the preparations of the
English—and recerves a letter to Louis the X V1.
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demanding aid in such event—In fact he was
unprepared for war— Explanations—Lord Cern-
wallis relicved from legislative restraints—ne-
gotiates offensive and defensive treaties at Poona
and Hyderabad—Nizam Ali professes apprehen-
sion of Mahratta treachery—accepts an indirect
guarantee—OQbservations on the character of
Lord Cornwallis.

N 1784 the Sultaun sent an embassy to Constanti-
nople, under Othman Khan, formerly his valet,
apparently for the purpose of obtaining some prelimi-
nary information. The intelligence transmitted by
this envoy of certain conferences then in progress,
between the English embassador, and the Grand
Scignor, appears to have hastened the second and
principal embassy to that power, consisting, according
to the Sultaun’s usual spirit of suspicion, of four®
persons who departed in 1785 ; and on their arrival at
Constantinople, Othman Khan returned. The second
embassy was instructed, after finishing the business
committed to their charge at Constantinople. to
proceed on a special mission to the court of France :
but the Sultaun, on hearing the personal report of
Othman Khan, changed this resolution, and deputed,
by the more expeditious route of a sea-vovage, from
Pondicherry a direct embassy to France, consisting
of threet persons including Othméan Khan, in the
beginning of 1787 ; and these envoys, after executing
the objects of their mission, had returned and joined
him at Coimbetoor. It were supertluous to describe
the objects of this embassy, or its courteous reception :
or the ridicule and contempt excited by its combi-
nation of splendid pretension, miserable avarice, and

* Gholaum Ali Khan ; Lutf Ali Beg;- Sha Noor Ullah, and
Mahommed Hunneef. Sha Noor Ullah had been formerly
smployed on a mission to Persia.

Kb t Mahommed Derveish Khan, Akbar Ali Khan, and Othman
an,
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mean rapacity. The embassadors returded  in a state
of feud, originally excited on the occasion of receiving
some valuable presents by order of Louis XVI. when
the two seniors had unfolded the former avocations of
their junior colleague, with a view to obtaining
the largest shares for thewselves ; -and in retaliation
for this secular injury, Mahommed Othmé&n assuming
the fervour of religious zeal, informed against his
colleagues, for being indecorously captivated by the
beauty of female infidels, and even accepting presents
of forbidden liquors; and they were accordingly
disgraced. ~

The probable objects of an embassy to Can-
stantinople are not so obvious as those of the French
mission ; and similar means do not exist, of checking
by European information, facts which may seem too
ludicrous to be received without suspicion. Such as
they are, they must rest on the memory and authority
of Lutf Ali ‘Beg, one of the embassadors, and Seyed
Jaffier the secretary whose journal of the embassy
was found in Seringapatam in 1792, and transmitted
with other documents to Calcutta, where it is still
supposed to be accessible.

This second embassy to Constautinople, em-
barked in 1785 on four ships, carrying among other
presents, four elephants, which all died before their
arrival at Bussora, and one of the ships was destroyed
by fire in consequence of shewing a blue light when
leading up the Shdt-ul-Arab, the confluence of the
Euphrates and Tigris. At Bussora, the envoys were
hospitably received by the governor, Soliman Pasha;
but were detained nearly three months, until orders
should be received regarding the arrangements of
their journey to Constantinople; for including. the
escort, which Tippoo’s letters state at upwards of five
hundred, the suite of every description, is estimated
by the secretary-at eleven hundred persons. During
their detention at Bussora, the envoys visited the
holy shrines of Nejeff and Kerbela: and when leave
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arrived, they were conveyed by water to Bagdad, and
thence overland by Moosul and Diarbeker, to Con-
stantinople, on the route so often trodden by the
Roman legions. Some months elapsed after their
arrival before they could be presented to the Grand
Seignor: he was seated in a balcony, and they made
their obeisance from below. To the question, ‘“ Are
you well? " addressed in a low tone to an officer near
him, and repeated through the medium of three
others before it reached the embassadors, the custom-
ary answer was returned “praying for your pros-
perity.” “You bhave sustained much fatigue?”
Answer, ‘* It is transformed into delight : " the signal
of taking leave instantly succeeded, and they departed
after performing the Indian Tusleemat (three low
salams, the hand each time touching the ground).
After nine months, they had their audience of leave,
at which not one word was uttered, and the Tusleemat
began and concluded the ceremony. Their first
audience of the Vizeer, was of course limited to
the delivery of credeutials, and a formal speech.

The proceedings of the interview of business are
thus described, the Vizeer and Reis Effendi being
present, and Ratib the searetary being the interpreter
in the Persian language,— Vizeer, “Open your
business.”— Gholaum Ali, ‘ OQur mastér is anxious
for the establisnment of a direct iutercourse between
the two countries, and offers ac a nezer, the fort
and termtory of Mangalore.”—Vizeer, “ It shall be
considered ; proceed.”—Gholaum Ali, “ He wishes
in return, to be favoured with the port and ter-
ritory of Bussora.”—Ratib (before translating to his
superior) ‘ Betkink yourselves of where you are,
and whom you are addressing, and speak with
discretion.”—S8ha Noor Ullah, ** Why, what mighty
affair is a sea port? When I was on an embassy
to Persia, Kurreem Khan, the king, offered
me two  sea-ports as a . personal present.”’—Reis
Kffendi (after hearing the interpretation), “And
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pray, Sir, who may you be ? and where have you left
your senses? Who is your king Kurreem Khan?
and before whom do you speak ? Kurreem Khan was
a black-guard.”—Gholaum Ali finding that matters
were going wrong, interposed to explain away the
Eropoeition, into a request for the Sultaun’s ships

eing hospitably received at the port of Bussora.
The fate of this first proposition deterred him
from adverting to the second in their instructions, as
an alternative in the event of the first beiug rejected,
namely, the establishment of a commercial factory at
Bussora, with exclusive privileges; and Gholaum Ali
proceeded to the third—the demand of permission to
dig a canal for the purpose of bringing the waters of
the Euphrates to the holy shrine of Nejef. On this
proposition being translated, the vizeer smiled, and
spoke Turkish to the Reis Effendi, stating (as was
understood) that if the thing were proper, it would
be effected without the aid of the mighty Tippoo
Sultaun, but he had the civility to auswer, through
the interpreter, that the application must be made to
Soliman Pasha. In fact, they had sounded him
regarding this proposition while waiting at Bussora ;
and the Pasha, who appears to have been a man
of ‘wit, as well as courtesy, replied with suitable
gravity, that the suggestion had once been made
in days of yore, but had been forbidden in the dream
or revelation of a saint, and that without some
communication of assent from the invisible world the
project could not be resumed.

There was po other professed interview of
business, and this could scarcely be deemed propi-
tious; but during their residence at Constantinople
they were treated with courtesy and distinction and
entertained with a variety of public spectacles, at one
of which they exhibited the evolutions of their sepoy
escort; before departing, conversations ensued of
a general nature, in which the vizeer made some
enquiries regarding the Sultaun’s ancestry and erapire.
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Whether Gholaum Ali was prepared for such a
question is uncertain, but he recited with promptitude
and fluency a very plausible genealogy, utterly
destitute of truth, which the Sultaun, on the return
of the embassy, actually ordered to be inserted in his
history, and is the second editipn noticed in page xxxi
of the preface to this work. But the political ills of
the mission were greatly exceeded by their physical
misfortanes. The plague commenced its ravages,
and before their departure from Constantinople five
bundred amd sixty-five persons had fallen victims
to that horrible disease: their orders to proceed to
France were unrevoked, but they had expended a
large portion of their money, and the funds were
insufficient for that ulterior purpose : the plague had
alarmed thewmn beyond all discretion, and they desired
to be expedited home by whatever route: they
accordingly embarked for Alexandria; but the plague
continued its effects during the voyage and after
their arrival. Here however they received private
but certain intelligence of the embassy by sea to
France, and took care to note it in their journal
a8 the cause of their return to India. From Alex-
andria they sailed up the Nile to Cairo and thence
crossed to Suez. Gholaum Ali, (afterwards known
to the English by the epithet of silver chair, from his
being. carried in & sort of stool covered with that
metal,) had some years before lost the use of his
lower extremities, and buad performed the journey
from Bagdad to Constantinople in his palankeen.
Of his twelve bearers the plague had left him but
one, and he was conveye(f across the isthmus in
a camel cradle. From Suez they sailed to Jedda,
and thence performed the pilgrimage to Mecca and
Medina. '

While at Mecca, the shereef finding that a
portion of the diplomatic' funds still remuined un-
touched, gave a friendly intimation of his requiring a
loan to that amount, and Gholdum Ali escaped this
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robbery by a singular device. He forged a letter which
he caused to be brought in by an express camel
courier in the night; the messenger was of course
stopped by the guards of the shereef, one of whose
officers was ordered to accompany him to the quarters
of the embassy, and the dispatch was read aloud in
his presence. 1t contained intelligence of a great
victory over the last of the Sultaun’s enemies in Indisa,
and the preparation of a numerous fleet for the pur-
pose of accupying the holy cities with an army capable
of renewing the first triumphs of IslAm. Discreet
rejoicings-ensued at the quarters of the embassy, and
secret terrors in the councils of the shereef. The
loan was no longer wanted, and the embassy hastened
to its port of embarkation, whence it arrived at Cali+
cut, on the very day of the Sultaun’s repulse from the
lines of Travancore, and shortly afterwards in camp,
just five years after taking leave at Seringapatam,
bringing back alive to the Sultaun’s territory exactly
sixty-eight of the eleven hundred who had arrived in
safety at Constantinople. The secretary estimated
the total expence of this embassy, including the pay
of the escort, the value of the ship lost, and the mer-
chandize embezzled at Muscat, at twenty lacs of
rupees; and slily observed, that the ouly value
received in return was a firmaun from the Sultaun of
Room, and sixty-five half quires* of journal, worth,
at the highest estimation of the two articles, in rarity
and in waste paper, about five rupees. But the Sul-
saun attributing no part of this result to his own folly
and ignorance, ascribed the whole to the unskilful-
.ness or dishonesty of Gholdum Ali Khan, who was
divested of all his employments, and ordered to
confine himself to his house. It was in the eourse of
the investigation which preceded this result, that the
Sultaun one evening directed one of the dfficers in
waiting to call the man-eatcrs. The officer stared

® Juz, it is less than balf & quire, but that was the nearest
translation.
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and the Sultaun explained, by desiring him to * call
the men who had lately returned from Room (Con-
stantinople), after eating their companions.” The
royal joke became current, and as long as its novelty
lasted, the embassadprs were distinguished by the
nick name of the man-eaters. o

The intelligence of the actual assault of the
lines of Travancore, had in the mean while produced
very different impressions on the Government of
Madras, and the Supreme Government of Bengal.
At an early period of the correspondence, Lord Corn-
wallis, influenced by the misapprehensions which
have been stated, had expressed his regret and dis-
approbation of the conduct of the raja of Travancore,
in concluding political negotiations without the
previous sanction of the power on which he depended
for support; but on réceiving from Mr. Hollond
farther intelligence regarding the raja’s purchase of
Cranganore and Ayacotta, and Tippoo’s claim of
sovereignty over these places, which he now intel-
ligibly threatened to enforce, transmitted on the 13th
November; 1789, for the guidance of the Government
of Madras, a broad and well explained consideration
of the serious consequences of waron the one hand,
and the fatal policy of a tame submission to insult
or injury on the other, with..corresponding inatruc-
tions, which were certainty couched in terms suffi-
ciently explieit. If on investigation it should appear
that those places had belonged ta the raja of goc in;
subsequently to his becoming a tributary of Mysoor,
the raja of Travancore was to be compelled to restore
them to their former possessor; if they had mot
belonged to the raja of Cochin within the specified
period, the raja of Travancore was to be supported
in the possession, as & legitimate right derived from
actual purchase. 1f Tippoo should be in actual pos-
session of these places, before the arrival of these
instructions, a negotiation was to be opened for the
purpose of effecting an amicable adjustment on the
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priuciples explained ; he was not to be forcibly dis-
‘possessed without the previous sanction of the
Supreme Government, unless he should have attacked
also the other territories of Travancore; but in the
event of such attack, the Government of Madras was
positively ordered to deem it an act of hostility, and
the commencement of a war which they were to
prosecute with all possible vigour and decision.

The Government of Madras, on the 3d of
January, 1790, in reply to an order which they were
expected to obey, proceeded to animadvert on the
reasonings by which it was supported. As well (say
they) might the Dutch dispose of Paliacate and
Sadras to the French, without offence to the English,
as sell Cranganore and Ayacotta to the raja of
Travancore, without offence to Tippoo Sultaun: and
reasoning from these parallel cases, they deprecated
the policy of committing the honour of Government
by taking part in the defence of places furtively
ovbtained; a harsh construction under every possible
view of the actual occurrences. The prescribed
communication to Tippoo Sultaun, of the fixed
determination of the Supreme Government to resist
any attack on those places, was made ; but a letter,
addressed to the raja of Travancore, even after the
attack on his own lines, not only discouraged the
expectation of support in the defence of the two
contested places; but expressly disclaimed the sanc-
tion of Government to a purchase, the validity of
which was still undetermined by Lord Cornwallis.
The Governor-General in council had ordered the
commercial investment to be stopped, and the whole
resources of the state to be applied to effective military
preparation; but these instractions remained unexe-
cuted. The military preparations were expressly
withheld, even after the attack of the lines, for the
avowed purpose of saving expence *; and the provision

* Mr. Cassamajor dissented from this improvident economy.

[* On the point of investment, the Governor-General after-




369

of a large proportion of the commercial investment
diverted the public treasure from the objects positively
prescribed by superior authority.

This is the last and among the most instructive
examples of the influence of that discordant and
disjointed constitution of the three presidencies,
which more resembled the debating councils of three
independent states, than the branches of one con-
sistent government: the Company’s servants had
been educated in the practice of treating all requisi-
tions frorn another presidency, as subjects for the
exercise of discretion, or the display of talent. Lord
Cornwallis was the first possessor of a direct, eflicient,
and coercive power, over all the presidencies, not only
independently of their opinion, but in opposition to
the judgment of his own council : and the intellectual
habits of youth, and mature age, confessedly the
creatures of circumstances, in all but the higher orders
of ‘mind, seem, in this instance, to have travelled
unconsciously in their accustomed course, without
reference to the radical change of constitution, which
exacted obedience instead of argument.

The Sultann’s conception of the probable in-
fluence of the events of the 29th of December, on the
councils of the English Government, was tardily
developed and clumsily executed. Seventeen days
elapsed before he took any measure: and he then
prepared a letter, ante-dated fifteen days, in which he
gives a singular account of his own defeat. His
troops were employed in searching for fugitives: the
raja’s people fired, his troops retaliated, and carried
the lines ; but on the first intimation of the affair, he
ordered them to desist and return; and finally, he
requests, that the raja may be ordered to observe the
treaty. 1In reply to all which, the governor of Madras.

wards retracted his censure, as 1t was explained, that nothing
more had been done than what was necessary to fulfil the con-
tract with the Philippine Company.” (Miles: History of Hydur
Naick, Vol. III, p. 187 noie.) )

WH _ 24
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actually proposed the appointment of commissioners
for the adjustment of the points in dispute, and on
the occasion of his approaching departure for England,
declared to the Governor-General his conviction of
Tippoo's amicable intentions, “I think,” says Lord
Cornwallis, “ the late Government of Fort St. George
were guilty of a most criminal disobedience of the
clear and explicit orders of this governwent, dated
the 29th of August and 13th of November, by not
considering themselves to be at war with Tippoo,
from the moment that they heard of his attack, &c.”
“So far am I from giving credit to the late Govern-
meni for economy in not making the necessary
preparations for war, according to the positive orders
of the Supreme Government, after having received
the most gross insults that could be offered to any
nation, I think it very possible that every cash* of
that ill-judged saving, may cost the Company a crore
of rupees: besides which, I still more sincerely
lament, the disgraceful sacrifice which you have made
by that delay, of the honour of your country, hy
tamely suffering an insolent and cruel enemy to
overwhelm the dominions of the raja of Travancore,
which we were bound by the most sacred ties of

friendship and good faith to defend.” This letter,

written on the 30th March, so far from considering
the delusion of Tippoo’s awmicable intentions to be
worthy of an answer, actually anticipates as accom-
plished, the devastation of Travancore, which did not
take place till the ensuing month.

Cannon and equipments of every description,
suited to the siege of a regular place of strength,
slowly arrived for the reduction of this miserable
wall; before the Sultaun would repeat the assault, a
series of approaches were carried to the counterscarp,
the ditch was filled, and a practicable breach effected
nearly three quarters of a mile in extent; the raja

* Cash, or cass, is an Indian money of account, of which
eighty are equal to two-pence-halfpenny.
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attempted to supply by numbers what he wanted in
skill and discipline, but these very numbers contri-
buted to spread panic; the resistance was contempt-
ible; and the Sultaun’s army entered Travancore. April.
He next appeared before Cranganore, which the
garrison actually abandoned, but were compelled
to return by putting to death the leading fugitives.
Two battalions of English sepoys' sent for the service
of Travancore, in consequence of the raja’s application
for aid, and of Major Bannerman’s mission in 1788,
had arrived in 1789, shortly before Tippoo’s departure
to Coimbetoor, and before the transfer of Cranganore
and Ayacotta. While Tippoo was in that neighbour-
hood, in May 1789, sounding the rivers, obtaining
intelligence, and even attempting by menaces to
induce the Dutch to surrender . Cranganore, Major
Bannerman, acting in the spirit of the late governor,
by whom he had been originally-deputed, ordered the
English colours to be planted on a conspicuous part
of the lines, and a flag of truce to be sent to the Sul-
taun’s army, to announce the presence of English
troops on those lines, to defend them if they should
be attacked. We have noticed the impressions
produced on the Sultaun’s mind, by the change of
government : and these impressions had bcen con-
firmed by his receiving no similar intiination on his
return in October 1789. nor at any subsequent period.
The officer commanding those troops, perceiving also
that the raja’s military means were nunworthy of
confidence, instead of occupying any particular part .
of the lines, took a central position of reserve; and
finding immediately after the assault, that nothing
remained to be supported, crossed over to Ayacotta.
A this critical juncture a force of one regiment
of Europeans and two of sepoys under Colonel
Hartley, arrived from Bombay, and landed at the
same place ; but the united corps were unequal to
! The 10th and 18th Madras Battalions under Captain
Knox. (Wilson: History of the Madras Army, Vol. 11, p. 190.)
WH ' : 24*
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offensive operations, and the fort of Cranganore being
deemed untenable, Colonel Hartley withdrew the
raja's garrison in the night of the Tth of May, and
the place was occupied by the Sultaun on the ensuing
morning. The English troops, separated by their
insular position, and the Sultaun’s disinclination,
came for the present into no contact with the troops
of Mysoor. Every thing north of the estuary, and
all the territory of Travancore and Cochin was now
open to the invader; the island of Vipeen was alone
untouched, because he had still the confidence of
practising on English credulity; the plain country
was o scene of ruerciless devastation ; the inhabitants
were hunted and sent in immense numbers to the
usual fate of captivity and death. Among the varied
enquiries of the author, the circumstantial details
were brought to bis notice of the fate of a small
division of these unhappy beings, namely, eighty
young women who were selected for the service of the
royal kitchens, to grind corn, and perform other
menial offices : one individual of the eighty arrived
in safety at Seringapatam, all the rest had died of
small-pox: the fact is stated as an example of
mortality, and not of the absence of contagion, for
they had accompanied the return of the army, and
the means of very special separation were of course
impracticable.

The Travancoreans had meanwhile retired to
their fastnesses, in the south, and independently of
the season, which rendered it necessary that the
Sultaun’s army should leave the coast before the
commencement of the monsoon; the military
preparations of the English had begun to indicate the
design of disturbing his route. Before leaving
Travancore, the effectual demolition of the lines was
rendered a sort of public ceremony ; the whole army
off duty was regularly paraded without arms, and
marched in divisions to the appointed stations; the
Sultaun, placed on an eminence, set the example of
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striking the first stroke with a pick-axe ; the ceremony
was repeated by the courtiers and chiefs, the followers
of every description, bankers, money-changers, shop-
keepers, and the mixed crowd of followers werc all
ordered to assist the soldiers, and the whole was
razed to the ground in six days. Shortly before the
Sultaun’s departure from Travancore, a French officer
named in the Mysorean manuscripts, Macnamara,
who is represented as making a tour of inspection of
the setticinents of that nation in a frigate, touched
at this part of the coast, and took the opportunity of
paying his personal respects to the Sultaun, by whom
he was suitably received. Tippoo affected to treat
with levity the serious admonitions of this officer,
regarding the formidable preparations of the English,
in conscquence of his proceedings in Travancore ; and
invited hiin to a review of the Assud-IllAhee, who
were to drive before them the British grenadiers.
Monsieur Macnamara spoke with distinguished
courtesy of the appearance and performance of the
troops, but it was specially observed by those present,
that his politeness did not go the full length of
assenting to the Sultaun’s proposition. The repeated
assurances of this officer, that the English considered
the war as actually commenced, somewhat quickened
his departure from Travancore, and he took the
opportunity of committing to the charge of Monsieur
Macnamara, a letter addressed to Louis XVI. stating
his confidence of immediate aid, if these apprehen-
sions should be realised.

In plain fact he was unprepared for war. He
had calculated on possessing every part of Travancore
in December 1789. If this expectation had been
realised, the option would have been in his hands, of
a sudden invasion of the southern provinces at once
from Travancore, Dindigul, and Caroor, and of being
ready by the time an English army could be assembled
to commence the war, with the Caveri as his northern
frontier towards Coromandel (with the exception
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perhaps of one or two places), a boundary anxiously
and incessantly desired by the ruler of Mysoor since
1751 ; or if that people should prove humble and
acquiescent, he would have the alternative of waiting
to consolidate his power in Travancore. before he
should proceed to ulterior objects. He was dis-
appointed in both of these expectations; it was
already May 1790; he had not reduced the whole of
Travancore; the English were not humble and
acquiescent; his cumbrous train of trophies were still
on the road to Seringapatam ; he was distant from
his regular arsenals, all the cquipments of his army
required revision, beforc he should be in a condition
to begin an active campaign, and cvery consideration
of prudence or necessity required that be should
revisit the capital.

We have seen that so early as 1788, Tord
Cornwallis must have contemplated as inevitable an
early war with Tippoo Sultaun; and being now
relieved by the actual hostile aggressions of that
prince on the 29th of December 1782 from the
restraints under which he considered himself to be
placed by act of parliament, he procecded without the
loss of a single day to issue corresponding instructions
to his political residents at the courts of Hyderabad
and Poona ; the result of these negotiations had long
been anticipated by the repeated advances of those
courts, and his Lordship was enabled from the first
to direct the measures of all the presidencies with a
reasonable confidence in their successful issue. The
treaty of offensive and defensive alliance concluded
with those powers,* provided that measures should be
' Executed. Ratified.

* With the Péshwa, ... 1st June. ... 5th July, 1790.
——Nizam Alj, woo  4th July. ... 29th July.

[The treaty with the Mahrattas, which contains fourteen
articles, will be found at pp. 530-2 of Forrest's Selections (Mah-
ratta Series), Vol. I. For a full account of the negotiation with
the Nizam and the Mahrattas, reference should be made to
Miles: History of Bri‘ish India, Book VI, Chap. IT1.]
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immediately taken to punish Tippoo Sultaun, and
deprive hin of the means of disturbing the general
tranquillity ; that each  should vigorously prosecute
the war ; that Nizam Ali, and the Mahrattas should
each, if required, scnd a contingent of ten thousand
horse to act with the English army, and to be paid by
that state; and that an English detachment should
act in like manner with each of their armies; that an
equal division of conquests should be made at the
conclusion of the war, with the exception of such
forts and territorics as should be reduced by the
English previously to the commencement of war
by the other parties; and that the territories of
particular zemindars and poligars named in the*
treaty and formerly dependent on the Mahrattas,
should, if conquered, be restored to them in full
sovereignty by which-ever of the allies they might be
reduced ; an article, apparently extorted from the
unacquaintance of the English with local and histori-
cal facts, by which the war cotnmenced with a broad
inequality of claim, in the gratuitous cession, without
an equivalent of an immense extent of territory
acquired by the house of Hyder at successive periods,
and by different events, and some of great import-
ance, so far back as 1762.1f This treaty was executed
by the péshwa, on the 1st of June ; but the reasonable
apprehensions of Nizam Ali that the Mahrattas
would invade his territories while his ariny should be
absent on service, and his earnest endeavours to
introduce in a specific article, the previous guarantee
of his own dominions, protracted the final execution
of that instrument until the 4th of July. Lord
Cornwallis could ndt without defeating the objects of
the confederacy, proclaim in the act of confederation

* Chittledroog: Raidroog. Havanoor.
Annagoondy. Kenchengood. The district of Abd-ul-
Harponelly. Cannagherry. Heckeem Khan, the
Bellary. Kittoor. chief of Savanoor,

t See vol. i. page 500.
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an offensive suspicion of one of the contracting
parties ; but, during and subscquent to the negoti-
ations, while he avoided any demonstration which
should afford ground of jealousy to 'the Mahrattas, he
desired the resident “to assure Nizam Ali of his
disposition, whenever g proper opportunity should
offer to take such farther steps for drawing the
connexion closer between the two Governments,
as may be consistent with good faith, and a due
attention to the subsisting engagements with the
other allies:” and, these assurances produced the
intended effect of a firm confidence in results
equivalent to a formal guarantee.

Tf in the endeavour to trace with accuracy the
causes of the impending war, the duties of historical
truth have exacted the recital of measures, adopted
at an early period by Lord Cornwallis, more
calculated to produce a war with Tippoo Sultaun,
than an open defensive alliance, for the avowed
purpose of limiting his ambition; we have not
failed to accompany the recital, with a description
of legal impediments, and technical difficulties, which
arrested the direct course of his honourable mind;
nor have we neglected to revive the recollections
confirmed by new evidence in every successive year,
of the lawless captivity of our countrymen, and of
the national honour prostrated and continuing pro-
strate since 1784. If the established forms of
that international practice usually called the law
of nations, which constitutes perhaps rather a code of
precedents, than of principles, may be brought to
impugn one branch of his Lordship’s proceedings, we
should, at most, arrive at the conclusion—not that he
had ultimately done wrong—but that he had assumed
wrong grounds for doing right; and the opinion
of an eminent man* who, at a period when political
dissension may be deemed extinct, denied to his

* Mr. Fox, on the oocasion of voting a testimony to his
memory.
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revered memory, the character of a great statesman,
may be left to the judgment of posterity. But what-
ever may be the decision of that tribunal, with regard
to particular measures, che praise of a plain,
ingenuous, and enlightened conception of the objects
fit to be attained by a great statesman; of stern
rectitude ; illustrated, not obscured, by that unaffect-
ed kindness, which fixed the attachment of all
who approached him—of humanity perhaps too
sensitive, which brought the virtues of private life
upon the public scene—such praise will not be
denied by the future historian, who shall attempt
a faithful portrait of this venerable statesman.



CHAPTER XXXV.

Lord Cornwallis’s early orders for preparation dis-
obeyed—the season lost-—prepares to assume the
direction of the war in person—remains at Bengul
on_hearing of General Medows's appointment—he
arrives—takes the command of the army at
Trichinopoly—Plan of the campaign—Central
force under Colonel Kelly— Letter from General
Medows to Tippoo—The Sultaun writes after the
army had marched—Singular and instructive
contrast—The General’s reply—Iippoo unpre-
pared, ascends to his capital—Capture of Caroor
-— The season—The sick— Imperfect commissariat
— Colonel Stuart sent to Palgaut—Ignorance of
the seasons—returns with difficulty—detached to
Dindegul—Colonel Oldham to Eroad— Colonel
Floyd placed in advance towards the ghaut—
compels the enemy under Seyed Saheb to- ascend
the ghaut—Tippoo’s anger ut this weak measure
—Colonel Stuart’s siege of Dindegul— assault—

" repulse — capitulation—ordered to Palgaut—
Stege —capitulation— Remarkable resources ob-
tained from the country—- Important events during
his absence— Description of the line of depits
from Trichinopely to the ghaut—of the three
distant corps into which the army was divided—
Topugraphy connected with Colonel Floyd’s posi-

tion— Tippoo descends the ghaut—Colonel Floyd
suggests falling back on the head-quarters—
ordered to maintain his position— Tippoo crosses
the river—Success of the English cavalry does
not arrest his approach—Cannonade of the 13th of
September— Casualties— Council of War—Re-
treat— Critical situation— Erroneous belief in the
8718
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arrival of General Meddws, aids in the final
repulse of the enemy— He had marched by another
route, and was distant twenty miles—Colonel
Floyd crosses the country, and after being three
days without eating, ultimately forms the junc-
tion—General Medows's epigram—Casualties—
March to Cheyour—thence to Cotmbetoor—Junc-
tion of Colonel Stuart—Advance of the united
army—by the Bhavani to Eroad—Proof of its
unfitness for a depot—Tippoo’s surprise at the
rapid movement of the English army— Capture
of Daroporam — General Medows marches to
Coimbetoor—thence again to Eroad— Tippoo
crosses the Caveri to attack the centre army—
General Medows follows.

IF in 1788 Lord Cornwallis appeared to have

contemplated the strong probability of an early
war: if, in his own words,* “ we had dissemmbled our
scnse of Tippoo's failure in the performance of several
stipulations in the last treaty of peace, as well as of
many insults and injuries that he has offered to
us in the course of the last three or four years;” and
if the deliberate judgment of his honourable mind
patiently expected the opportunity which should
justify to the national authorities efforts ‘“ to curb
his insolence, and exact signal reparation for the
many injuries that we and our allies have sustained
from them t;"” symptoms of impending war, not to
be mistaken, were much augmented in 1789. On the
29th of August of that year his Iordship issued
special instructions to the Government of Madras
regarding the measures to be adopted by themselves,
and the communications to be made to the other
presidencies, and to the envoys at Poona and Hydera-
bad, in the event of being forced into a war; and on
the 23d of September those instructions were extend-

* 15th August, 1790. 1 Ibid.
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ed in nearly as ample detail as if the period
was fixed for opening the campaign. If these orders,
repeated in still more forcible terms in November,
had been strictly obeyed by the Government of Fort
St. George, immediately on receiving intelligence
of the attack of the lines of Travancore on the 29th of
Decewber, 1789, a formidable army would have been
assembled in the best season for military opcrations,
and allowing sufficient time for the best attainable
equipment, that army might (if the Sultaun had
chosen to wait their arrival) have been in contact
with the rear of his position before the lines, long
before he was enabled to carry them. The season
was lost, and Lord Cornwallis had prepared to repair
these errors in person, when he received intelligence
of the appointment to the government of Madras
of General Medows, then governor of Bombay, in
which situation he was succeeded by General
R. Abercromby ; the presence of experienced officers
to command the resources and lead the armies of
those presidencies thus seemed to render unnecessary
the execution of his first intentions, and left him
more at liberty to draw forth and combine the
financial and military means of all the presidencies,
for the general and vigorous prosecution of the war.
Feb. 20. General Medows arrived at Madras late in
February, when the indignant gloom of reflecting
men began to disperse, on perceiving in every direction
marks of efficient preparation. A small encampment
was formed by the 18th of March, at Conjeveram,
which may be deemed the very commencement of
May 24, efficient military measures. On the 24th of May,
' General Medows took the command of the principal
96. army assembled near Trichinopoly, and on the 26th,
made his first march with an army of about fifteen
thousand men.! The plan of operations resembled in

! The arroy was brigaded as follows .—
.Cavalry Brigade.—Lieutenant-Colonel Floyd, His Majes-
ty’s 19th Light Dragoons.
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its principal features that in Colonel Fullarton’s
contemplation in 1783—4. This principal army,
after reducing Palgaut and the forts of the province of
Coimbetoor, was to ascend by the pass of Gujelhutty ;
while a force under Colonel Kelly," deemed to be
capable of making a respectable defence if necessary
against the Sultaun’s whole.army, and to be formed
chiefly of the troops expected from Bengal, was
to penetrate from the centre of Coromandel into

His Majesty’'s 19th Light Dragoons, 2nd, 3rd, 4th,
and 5th Native Cavalry.
Artillery.—Lieutenant-Colonel Geils, Madras Army.
Three and a half companies Bengal Artillery. 1st Bat-
talion, and one company 2nd Battalion, Madras
Artillery.
Right wing.—Colonel Nixon, Madras Army.
1st European Brigade.—Major Skelly, His Majesty’s
74th Regiment,
His Majesty’s 36th and-52nd Regiments.
1st Neative Brigade.—Lieutenant-Colonel Oldham, Mad-
ras Army.
1st, 6th and 16th Battalions of Sepoys.
3rd Native Brigade.—Major Cuppage, Madras Army.
4th, 9th and 23rd Battalions of Sepoys.
Left wing.—Lieutenant-Colonel Stuart, His Majesty’s
72nd Regiment.
2nd Ruropean Brigade.—Lieutenant-Colonel Cla.rke.
Madras Army.
His Mnjesty's 7lst and 72nd Kegiments and 1st
Madras Regiment.
2nd Native Brigade.—Lieutenant-Colonel Trent, Mad-
ras Army.
2nd, 7th and 20th Battalions of Sepoys.
4th Native Brignde.—Major Dupont, Madras Army.
5th, 14th and 25tb Battalions of Sepoys.

The Company of Guides and a detachment of Pioneers,
Colonel Musgrave commanding the whole line. (Wilson:
IIzstory of the Madras Army, Vol. I1, p. 191.)

! Colonel Kelly's army was formod into three brigades at
Arni :—
First Brigade.—Lieutenant-Colonel Maxwell, His Majrs-
ty’s Service.
His Majesty’s 74th, the Srd, 13th and 26th Bengal
Battalions.
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BaAramahal, and the operations of the two divisions
were to be determined by the future events of the
war; but for the reduction of -Palgaut as a preliminary
measure of the campaign, the season had been
thrown away. '

Although General Medows had thought it incum-
bent on the dignity of his station to return no
answer to a letter addressed by Tippoo Sultaun to
the late Governor, and received the first week in
March, repeating in more direct terms his assent
to Mr. Hollond’s suggestion of appointing commis-
sioners; it appears that on the 5th of April he
addressed to the Sultaun one of those letters of form
announcing his appointment and arrival, usually
written by new governors to the rulers of neighbouring
states ; a measure sufficiently intelligible, when
combined with his silence on other subjects. The
Sultaun’s reply did not arrive till the army had
marched. It was full of pacific professions, and
complained of “ the representations, contrary to fact,
of certain short-sighted persons, which had caused
armies to be assewbled on both sides, an event
improper among those who are mutually at friend-
ship.” In answer to Mr. Hollond’s proposition for
appointing commissioners, after the attack of the lines
of Travancore, the Sultaun had haughtily replied,
‘““that he had, himself, ascertained the facts ;- after
this, what was the use of commissioners? Never-
theless, if Mr. Hollond wished it, he might send

Sezond Brigade.—Lieutenant-Colonel Cockerell, Bengal
rmy.
His Majesty’s 76th, the 7th, 14th and 28th Bengal
Battalions.
Third Brigade.—Major Russell, Bengal Army.
1st Regiment, Madras Native Cavalry.
4th Madras Europeans, and the 21st and 27th Madras
Battalions.
Colonel Kelly died on the 24th September and was suceceeded
by Lieutenant-Colonel Maxwell. (Wilson : History of the Madras
Army, Vol. II, p. 199.)
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commissioners to the presence.” *  His altered tone
is remarkable and instructive. On perceiving the
adoption of a policy consistent with the dignity of a
great nation, he asked, with considerable urgency
that the General would receive an envoy from him,
“that the dust which had obscured his upright
mind might be removed,” and begged that he would
quickly signify his approval, and order the embassador
(a person of rank) to be passed at the frontier. On
the day on which the army passed that frontier,
General Medows replied, that *“the English, equally
incapable of offering au insult.as of submitting to
one, had always looked upon war as declared, from
the moment he attacked their ally the king (raja) of
Travancore.” The Sultaun received this letter at
Coimbetoor, and if any evidence were wanting that the
united effect of the measures of the late Government,
and of his own bad military combinations, found him
unprepared for immediate war, that evidence may be
traced in his instant departure on the receipt of this
letter, with his main army, for the capital.

It was the 15th of June before the arrangements June 15.
of the commissariat enabled General Medows to
occupy the frontier posts of Caroor, distant only
fifty miles from Trichinopoly, which was abandoned
without resistance. The south-western monsoon,
which at this season pours its torrents on Malabar,
sheds a mild and salugrious moisture over the upper
countries, and continuing its course over the arid
eastern plains, is accelerated by their rarefaction. A
powerful wind from the ‘wesf, raising elouds literally
palpable, of pulverized red earth, had utterly obscured
the early part of the route, and tainted-the respiration
with more than the ordinary dust of a camp. In
India to open & campaign at a good season, is to
enable the troops to sustain the worst; and the
disadvantage of commencing operations at this period
was evinced by the return of upwards of twelve

* Ttk February. 1790.
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hundred subjects for the hospital of Caroor before
a shot had been fired." 'The army did not quit this
spot before the 3d of July, and after occupying
without resistance the weak forts of Aravacourchy
and Daraporum,® the former was delivered to its
primitive Hindoo possessor; the latter was occupied

. by an English garrison for the reception of a farther

body of sick : and leaving in that vicinity a brigade to
cover the heavy stores, and some expected convoys,
the army narched without impediments, expecting
to meet the Sultaun at Coimbetoor at a period when
he was actually above the ghauts: and it is perhaps
unnecessary to observe farther on the dates recorded
in the margin, than to shew that the departments of
the army had not yet attained that rare maturity
which foresees and provides for all wants before they
occur.

An advanced force under Colonel Stuart was
immediately detached to prepare for the siege of
Palgaut, or receive possession if it should surrender,
but there was still much to learn regarding the local
influence oi the seasons. The town and immediate
vicinity of Coimbetoor receiving from the mountains
which tower over it to windward, a sprinkling of the
south-west monsoon, charged with the temperature
of that elevated region, may be deemed comparatively
cold, and had received from the Sultaun a sounding
name, signifying the abode of health. A traveller
passing twenty miles to the east, approaches the

! The fort at Caroor was taken possession of on the 15th
June, having been evacuated by the enemy without opposition.
'This being a strong well-built place, it was retained as a depdt for
stores and provisions, and also as a station for siock and convales-
cents. (Wilson: History of the Madras Army, Vol. II, p. 192.)

2 Aravacourchy.—Aravakuriohi, 17 miles south-west of Karur.
The fort had been built by a Mysore raja. The walls were
destroyed and the site made over to the Poligar of Andipatti, in
the Madura District.

3 Daraporum.—Dharapuram in Coimbatore District, 42 miles
south-east of Coimbatore town. The fort was destroyed in 1792.
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burning temperature of Coromandel ; Colonel Stuart
passing twenty miles to the west, met the full force

of the rains of Malabar, and after crossing with diffi-

culty a mountain torrent, and getting entangled
between it and another, which placed bim for a day

in a situation from which he could neither advance

nor retreat, was glad to avail himself of the first
possibility of returning to head-quarters, after having

with great difficulty obeyed the order for summoning

the place. The error being thus practically ascer-
tained, the same officer was immediately afterwards
detached in a retrograde direction for the reduction July 31.
of the important fort of Dindigul, distant one hundred Aug. 5.
and twelve miles ; and another detachment under
Colonel Oldham was appointed for the capture of
Eroad, in the best line of communication from
Caroor to the ghaut. :

At the same period that Colonel Stuart had
been ordered to Palgaut, Colonel Floyd with the
cavalry of the army, afterwards reinforced with a light
and efficient brigade of infaniry, was advanced in
consequence of the appearance of greater numbers,
and a better order of cavalry than had yet appeared.
These were comwmanded by the Sultaun’s kinsman
Seyed Saheb, who had joined him at Coimbetoor
with his division from Dindigul, and on the Sultaun’s
ascent to the capital, was left in command of the
Silladar and Pindaree horse, to hang upon the English
army and disturb its communications. Colonel
Floyd with very inferior numbers, commenced against
this corps a series of well-combined and active opera-
tions, creditable to his professional address, and to
the spirit and energy of the European and native
cavalry; and Seyed Saheb, incessantly kept on
the alert, found it expedient to place his corps to
the northward of the Bahvany, a river running from
west to east, and occasionally fordable at a few
points ; but finding himself exposed in that situation
also to the enterprise of the English troops, and

WH : : 26



restricted for space between that river and the hills,
ultimately ascended for safety above the ghauts.
Tippoo was justly enraged at this weak and unskilful
proceeding. Seyed Saheb, as he observed, ought
never to have crossed the Bahvany, but on Colonel
Floyd’s approach, to have dispersed into small bodies,
to have ranged round his rear and flanks, to have
occupied in a desultory warfare every detachment on
the line of communication with Trichinopoly, and to
have straitened the supplies of those appointed to
distinct services, and particularly that which after-
wards reduced Dindigul and Palgaut, and subsisted
exclusively on the country through 'which it marched;
and the Sultaun concluded his angry harangue by
declaring that Seyed Saheb had no business with the
parade of fighting, and that any one officer under his
command would have conducted himself with greater
address.

Aug. 16. Colonel Stuart arrived before Dindigul, in conse
quence of these errors, without seeing an enemy,
except in some posts of minor importance, which
either surrendered to him, or to special detachments.
This place erected on the summit of a smooth
granite rock of limited extent, had within the last
six years been rebuilt with excellent masonry, on
a new line of defence, not in conformity to the
exact principles of European science, but with a better
attention to flanking defence : it mounted fourteen
good guns, and one mortar, but its best defence was
a rampart of natural precipice, except at one point of
ascent. The allotment of ordnance for its reduc-
tion was calculated on the expectation of finding the
place as it was left in 1784; two 18-pounders, two
12-pounders, and two mortars of the smallest size,
constituted the whole battering train, and the equi
ments for these pieces were more insufficient than their
number: two batteries (one of field-pieces chiefly for

20. enfilade and ricochet) opened on the 20th. To add to
the insufficiency, two of the embrazures of the
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breaching battery erected in the preceding night,
were found to have been lined out, so as not to bear
on the intended breach, and it was necessary to
reform them in open day; this being effected the
enemy's fire began to slacken after noon, and was
silenced before night; by the evening of the 21st,
a very indifferent breach was effected, the defences of
the works which flanked it being imperfectly taken
off, and some of the most important remaining
uninjured; but as shot only remained for about two
hours firing, and a week would elapse before a fresh
supply could arrive, Colonel Stuart, estimating the
value of time, and the disadvantage of remaining
passive, determined on risking the assault, on the Aug.21.
evening of the same day, under all the disadvantages
which have beern stated. The slope of the breach,
although accessible over the steep ascent of the rock,
yet left upwards of ten feet of the interior revetment
of rather a thin rampart, quite entire; the ascent by
the flanks of the breach war rendered impracticable,
and a mass of pikes from the foot of the interior
revetment, received every man as he ascended the
summit of the breach ; the assault was given with spirit,
and continued a8 long as any prospect of success
remained, but was ultimately repulsed with loss.
Fortunately the cause of this premature attempt was
unknown to the garrison, and early the next morning
a white flag appeared, and the kelledar capitulated,
on the usual conditions of security for persons and
property, including under the latter head, an article
which would seem strange in European warfare; the
pikes and matchlocks of the irregular foot, which like
the horse and sword of the Indian cavalry, are the
personal property of the individual; but Colonel
Stuart had judiciously ordered the officer charged
with negotiating the capitulation, to make no diffi-
culty that should impede for a moment the surrender
of the place. '

After retracing his steps to Coimbetoor, this

wH . . 2%*
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officer was, without joining head-quarters, ordered
with augmented means to proceed to Palgaut. Offi-
cers who had served in the siege of 1783, spoke in
high terms of the strength of the works, as being com-
posed of long blocks of granite, so built as to present
the end instead of the side to the shot, and thus re-
sisting the ordinary means of effecting a breach ; the
ordnance was therefore prepared on a respectable
scale, and placed under the direction of Lieutenant-
Colonel Moorhouse, an officer of distinguished reputa-
tion. The preparations were made with corresponding
care, and at day-light on the 21st of September, two
batteries opened at distances under 500 yards, one for
enfilade, and the other for breaching; the latter con-
sisting of eight 18-pounders, dismounted at their
first discharge six of the guns opposed to them. In
less than two hours the fort was silenced, and before
night a practicable breach was effected : the opinion
above stated appears to have arisen from attempting
a breach in a circular tower, and the reflection of shot
from indirect incidence was ascribed to direct resist-
ance. In the present instance, the breach was made
in the curtain, and the error was practically discovered.
Among the recent improvements was the completion
of the ditch across that causeway which led the as-
sailants of 1783 to the gate ; but although the covered
way had been improved, it was still without palisades,
and in a considerable extent immediately opposite to
the breach, the glacis was so imperfectly finished as
to leave cover immediately under its crest: of these
defects the proper advantage was taken the same night.
On reconnoitring the covered way, it was found, that
the besieged retired every night into the body of the
place, drawing after them a rude wooden bridge which
was replaced every morning: the defective spot was
immediately seized, a circular place of arms, in a
salient angle of the covered way, was next occupied,
and its defences reversed ; the musquetry, from the
crest of the glacis, opposed that of the fort, the gate
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of the sortie was converted into a battery for two
18-pounders ; light mortars were, brought up to the
position first seized, and were served with decisive
effect ; the ditch, however, was still to be filled: the
advanced position must, on the ensuing day, have
remained insulated, until it could be connected, in the
usual manner, with the trenches: but all these labours
were rendered unnecessary, by the impression produced
on the garrison, who, before day-light, called out that
they desired to capitulate. The terms were soon ad-
justed, in conversation across the ditch, and soon
after day-light, the rude bridge was launched, which
enabled the besiegers to occupy the place; which was
found to mount sixty guns, of various calibres. The
chief condition of surrender was effective protection
against the Nairs, who had joined Colonel Stuart,
and were employed in the blockade; but on the fire
of the place being silenced, crowded the trenches and
batteries, anxious for sanguinary retaliation, which it
required very exact arrangements to prevent.

Colonel Stuart arrived before Palgaut, with two
days’ provisions, and without a shilling in his military
chest ; the sympathy which he evinced for the suffer-
ings of the Nairs, and the rigid enforcement of a
protecting discipline, had caused his bazar to assume
the appearance of a provincial granary : the fort was
ill stored, but, after depositing six months’ provisions
for the garrison appointed for its defence, he carried
back to his Commander-in-chief one month’s grain
for his whole army : the confidence which his conduct
inspired in this short intercourse, having enabled
him to pay for these supplies, with written acknow-

ledgments, convertible into cash at the conclusion of
the war.?

! After the capture of Dindigul, Colonel Stuart was rein-
forced by the flank companies, His Majesty’'s Tlst and 72nd
regiments and eight companies of the 14th battalion. When i6
was discovered that the ememy had retired from the covered
way it was ocoupied by the grenadiers of the 2nd battalion, who
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During Colonel Stuart’s absence on this service
events had occurred of the most serious importance.
Sattimungul,* on the north bank of the river Bahvany,
had been reduced and occupied by a battalion from
Colonel Floyd's corps,® whose general operations were
confined to the south of that river, looking to that
depot as his main object; and he had been joined,
after the reduction of Eroad, by the greater part of the
troops appointed for that service under Colonel
Oldbam. A chain of depdéts commencing with
Tanjore and Trichinopoly, and including Caroor,
Eroad and Sattimungul, were thus in the possession
of the English, in a good line for advancing provisions
and stores to the pass of Gujelbutty, which General
Medows still expected to ascend early in October;
but unfortunately, even Caroor could scarcely be
deemed a good depot; Eroad was better. qualified
to contain than protect stores, and Sattimungul was
ill adapted to either purpose. Exclusively of minor
detachments, and a respectable corps of cavalry and
infantry employed, with all the spare carriage, in
escorting provisions and stores, to be successively
advanced, the army might be considered as separated
into three divisions, very different in their compo-
sition, but not far from equality in actual strength : the
division sixty miles in advance, under Colonel Floyd

were reinforced, when the firing began, by three more companies
of sepoys and half a company of the 5§3nd. (Wilson: History
of the Madras Army, Vol. II, p. 198.)

! Sattimungul.—Satyamangalam, a village in the Coimbatore
District, 40 miles N.N.E. of Coimbatore town, and 35 miles
W.N.W. from Erode, on the Bbavani river, which is here about
100 yards wide. The fort here commanded the fords at the foot
of the Gajalhatti pass into Mysore.

2 Colonel Floyd's corps consisted of His Majesty’s 19th Light
Dragoons and the 2nd, 8rd and 5th Native Cavalry, a detach-
ment of Bengal Artillery, His Majesty's 36th regiment and the
1st, 5th, 16th and 256th battalions of Native Infantry. The 16th
battalion occupied the fort, while the rest of the force encamped
on the south of the river opposite to it. (Wilson: History of
the Madras Army, Vol. 11, p. 194.)
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—the head quarters of the army at Coimbetoor, and
the division under Colonel Stuart, thirty miles in the
rear, engaged in the siege of Palgaut; making a
distance of about ninety miles between the extrewe
corps.

About fifteen miles farther up the river than
Sattimungul, is the fort of Denaickencota,® still in the
Sultaun’s possession. This fort is about seven miles
south from Gujelhutty, the foot of the pass, which by
the most direct road does not exceed eighteen iles
from Sattimungul. About four miles below Denaicken-
cota, is the ford of Poongar, now occasionally practica-
ble; and at a greater distance below Sattimungul,
a better ford at Gopalchittypoliam.* The river was
every where passable in bas{et-boa.ts, of which 4 con-
siderable number was collected at Denaickencota and
other points. The Sultaun, early in the month
of September, leaving his heavy stores and baggage Sept.
at the summit of the ghaut under Poornea, com-
menced the descent of this most difficult pass of the
whole eastern range. The horse, which had last
ascended, were first made to descend ; and the English
cavalry, recognizing their former antagonists, drew
no particular inference from their return, but attacked
and defeated them wherever they approached a
patrole or a detachment. Colonel Floyd, however,
had early intelligence of the Sultaun’s proceedings :
it was indisputably confirmed by the desertion of
a native officer, formerly in the English service, who
gave a circumstantial account of the number of guns
which had descended, and the number still to des- -
cend. This successive intelligence, and this indivi-
dual- to be examined, were dispatched, express,

1 Denaickencota.—Danayakkankottai, now almost deserted:
a village 30 miles north of Coimbatore, 18 miles W.8.W. of
Satyamangalam. _

2 Gopalchittypoliam.—~Gobichéttipalaiyam, a village on the
Bhavani river, 45 miles north-east of Coimbatore, 13 miles
- B.B.E. of Satyamangalam. ' : :
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to head-quarters; with a suggestion founded on the
dispersed state of the army, which has been described,
that the advanced corps should fall back upon the
head-quarters. of the army : but there the intelligence
was disbelieved, and the Colonel was ordered to
maintain his advanced position. Hie encampment,
consisting of His Majesty’s 19th dragoons, of six
troops, sixteen troops of native cavalry, His Majesty’s
36th foot, and four battalions of sepoys, including
the garrison of Sattimungul, and eleven* guns, was
exactly opposite that post.

Among his arrangements of precaution was a
daily examination of the ford of Poongar and its

Sept.13. vicinity. On the morning of the 12th, after the

13.

return of one of these detachments, Tippoo com-
menced the passage of the river, at the ford, and
in basket-boats above it ; and before night, had passed
a large portion of his army, and encamped some miles
to the south of the ford; the remainder was ordered
to descend by the north bank, to operate by cannonade
across the river, to seize Sattimungul, and eventually
to cross by the lower or upper ford, or by boats,
according to circumstances. The intelligence and
appearances of the two preceding days indicated that
the descent had been nearly accomplished; on the
13th, an hour and a half before day-light, three
troops of the 19th were sent in advance, to reconnoitre
the ford, and a regiment of native cavalry was order-
ed out at day-light to support them. There aro two
roads to the ford, one winding by the river side, and
another more direct ; the advanced body, after charg-
ing and driving into the river some cavalry they had
met, returned by the river side; the native regiment
was meanwhile moving by the direct road, and had
only proceeded a few miles, when it was suddenly met
by larger bodies than had hitherto been observed.
The country is intersected by high and generslly
impenetrable inclosures, chiefly composed of various

* Cavalry 1,100; infantry 1,700; total 2,800, and 11 guns.
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kinds of euphorbia and opuntia. The regiment
instantly charged, and overthrew its immediate op-
ponents, but perceiving heavy bodies of cavalry in
every direction, the officer commanding, determined
to take post in a fayourable spot, which presented
itself, formed partly by these fences; and to send
intelligence to Colonel Floyd, in order that time
might be given for the requisite dispositions, as well
as for his own support. It was rather a position for
infantry than cavairy, but if he had attempted retreat,
the consequences must have been more unfavourable.
Nearly an hour elapsed before support arrived, during
which time he was surrounded, and hard pressed in
every direction; and had expended his carbine am-
munition. His earliest support was another regiment
of native cavalry, which in the first instance relieved
him, in the defensive post, and left his regiment free,
to the use of their swords, in conjunction with the
19th, which regiment, including the returning detach- -
ment attracted by the firing, and the remaining four
troops of native cavalry, immediately followed the
supporting regiment.

The Mysoreans in surrounding the regiment
which had taken post, bad very improvidently
entangled themselves among the inclosures ; in one of
these, from which there was no retteat, between four
and five hundred of the Sultaun’s stable horse
were charged by two troops of the 19th, and every
man put to the sword ; in other directions the charges
of the European and the native cavalry were perfectly
successful; the field was completely cleared of every
opponent, and the whole cavalry returned to camp.
They had scarcely dismounted, however, before a
large body was perceived deseending the northern
bank of the river, and about ten o’clock, opened some
guns on the grand guard, which was immediately
ordered to join the line; the Sultaun’s columns were
at the same time perceived rapidly approaching from
the west, in a direction which threatened to turn
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the left, and a change of front was promptly executed,
which placed the infantry in a position difficult to.be
out-flanked, and the cavalry imperfectly covered by a
low hill. The Sultaun’s army drew up-in a corres-
ponding order, seeking but failing to obtain an
enfilading fire, and opened a distant, but efficient
cannonade from nineteen guns, besides those to the
north of the river; this was answered by the English
eleven, but not with great vivacity, as well on account
of the distance as the limited store of ammunition.
At distances much exceeding point blank, a few
discharges are generally necessary to ascertain the
range; when this was found, every shot carried off a
file, and to distract the énemy’s aim, the corps fre-
quently receded or advanced a short distance; these
movements were executed by the sepoys with the
most perfect steadiness. Colonel Floyd in passing
along the line when the casualties were most frequent,
expressed. regret to the native officers, and cheered
them with the hope of retaliation in due time:
the answer was nearly uniform, “ We have eaten
the Company’s salt; our lives are at their disposal,
and God forbia that we should mind a few casualties.”
The cannonade only terminated with the day.

Of the English guns, two 12-pounders and a six
were disabled ; the casualties had been serious among
the troops, the horses, and the draught oxen; and
this last equipment had suffered still more severely
in the desertion of most of the drivers during the
cannonade. A council of war determined on retreat,
and although the two twelves had been restored soon
after midnight, by the active and intelligent exertions
of an officer of his staff,* the causes which have been
noticed, compelled him to leave on the ground one
18-pounder, one 12, and one six. After some blame-

* ‘' Brigade Major Dallas, who is always active and fertile in
expedients, got timber from the fort, &o, &ec.” Colonel Floyd's
letter. He had been foremost in every charge by day, and acted
the artificer by night. A
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able delay, in executing the orders for abandoning
the untenable post of Sattimungul with its provisions,
the battalion crossed in basket-boats, and the whole
corps commenced its march at eight in the morning;
the infantry and cavalry in separate columns, and
the baggage in a third. For about twelve miles, an
open country admitted that order of march; but at
QOocara,' a country intersected by inclosures, compelled
the adoption of a single column, the cavalry with
Colonel Floyd leading; and the infantry from that
period, entirely conducted by his second, Lieutenant-
Colonel Oldham.

Tippoo had, on the preceding night, drawn off his
army at the close of day, to a position distant six
miles, which he had previously appointed, but the
army, overtaken by the night, and by torrents of rain
not felt in the English position, unable to find their
places in the line, were scattered over the country
without order or connexion: if this state of things
had been known to Colonel Floyd, there can be no
doubt that even with his inferior numbers, and after
the fatigues of such a day, he would have attempted
and probably succeeded in a decisive enterprise by
night. There was no indication of movement until
the English troops were in actual march ; and it was
of course between eight and nine before intelligence
could reach the Sultaun, whose arrangements were
prepared for a renewal of the cannonade with an
augmented artillery about noon. He instantly
ordered the great drum to be beaten, and verbal
orders to be circulated for immediate march, and he
bastened with such cavalry as was ready, to recon-
noitre, and to send back instructions regarding the
route to be pursued. The Sultaun’s sepoys had in
general fasted a day and night, and were busily
employed among the hedges in dressing their food.
1t was the custom of the army on ordinary occasions

! Oocdra.—Ukkaram, a village seven miles south of Satya-
mangalam.
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to beat two preparatory sounds of the great drum,
and march on the third: a portion of the dispersed
army was really unacquainted with the orders for
tmmediate march, another portion .did not choose
to understand them; the officers were directed to
move without a mowent’s delay, and did so with
whatever men they conld collect; but it is supposed
that the whole force of every arm really collected
for action on that day did not exceed fifteen
thousand men,* and certainly did not amount to
twenty thousand: they were however flushed with
the intelligence of the abandoned guns, and the
elation of pursuit, and behaved with considerable
firmness and spirit.

It was past two o’clock before Tippoo could bring
any of his infantry into action. The columb of English
infantry marched on the main road, which was now
in most places bounded by thick hedges; and the
enemy's cavalry, infantry, and guns, bore directly on
the rear, and diagonally on both flanks, compelling
the column occasionally to halt and return the
cannonade with various success, making as much
progress as was consistent with the successive means
very skilfully employed, for keeping the pursuers at a
distance. In these operations, three more guns were
disabled and abandoned, the number remaining being
reduced to five six-pounders. About five o’clock, the
Sultaun had advanced his whole force so close, ,as to
compel Colonel Oldham to halt, and form the whole
infantry in a strong position ; a select body of cavalry
made a rapid detour, and charged with considerable
spirit, the rear of the position, while theé infantry in
front, was prepared to take advantage of the éxpected
confusion; the English line, only two deep, faced
about to receive the cavalry, and repulsed them with
great loss, many of the horsemen falling by the
bayonet. The English cavalry had by this time

* The more general estimate is 10,000, but we must consider
that it is the calculation of disappointed men.
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advanced near to the village of Shawoor,* (or Cheyoor)
about two miles in front, the small portion of baggage
that remained, was ordered into the village, ground
was selected for the encampment, the cavalry had
begun to forage, and a troop which had been ordered
to examine and make the detour of the village,
appeared on its opposite side, on the road leading
from Coimbetoor. Some of the followers called out
that it was General Medows's personal guard, and
the head of his column: and Colonel Floyd, who had
at the same moment received from Colonel Oldham
a report of his situation, seizing the fortunate error,
caused it to be announced to the cavalry, who, throw-
ing down their forage, formned and returned to the
scene of action, proclaiming with three huzzas, the
arrival of Medows, which was instantly greeted by a
similar cheer, along the infantry ranks. It was
almost at the same critieal period, that the Sultaun’s
army had rushed to the close of a fancied triumph,
with a general shout, but were checked in the first
instance, by the admirable conduct of the infantry,
and in the next, by the exulting intelligence of
succour ; in this state of wavering, they were charged
by the British cavalry, who pursued on both flanks
of the position, and completely cleared the field.

The Sultaun received at once the report of the
death of his favourite kinsman Burhin-u-Deen,
{who had fallen in a gallant attempt to force one of
the fences which have been described,) and of the
supposed arrival of the English General : authentic
information had placed his division on a different
route, but believing for an instant his intelligence to
be erroneous, he drew off his army, in disappointment
and indignation at the escape of a prey deemed to be Sept.14.
within his grasp. Ascribing this disappointment
chiefly to the inclosures which we have mentioned, he

! Shawoor.~Sevur, a small village twenty miles south of

Satyamangalam, and about twenty-five miles north-east of
Ooimbators.
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some years afterwards ordered them to be entirely
levelled over the whole face of the distriot ; and it is
a curious fact, that he was materially aided in this
operation by an almost invisible agent. The prickly
or “straight-thorned opuntia,”* is the chief
material of these fences, and the Silvester cochineal
insect, introduced into Coromnandel shortly after the
‘order had been given, devoured not only the leaves,
but the root of that plant with such avidity as nearly
to have terminated its existence in the south eastern
provinces : while the “ Cactus Tuna " or awl-thorned
opuntia, remained untouched by the insect.!

On the disappearance of the Sultaun’s army,
Colonel Floyd, about seven o’clock occupied the
ground near the village which he had previously
examined. He had, during the action, received a

* Cactus ficus Indica, Lin.—Ainslie.

{Opuntia Dillenii.]

'In 1786 Dr. Anderson of Madras sent to Sir Joseph
Banks specimens of a dye-yielding coccus which may have
been a form of cochineal, and this seems to have determined
the East India Company to endeavour to introduce the true
insect. Accordingly in 1795 Captain Neilson (Royle: Prod.
Res. Ind., 1840, p. 60) brought from Brazil some opuntia leaves
with the insects still adhering. This was apparently, however,
the grana sylvestris. There is no knowledge of the acclimatisa-
tion of the grana fina (?) in India. . . . It thus seems possi-
ble the sudden extermination of the opuntias of certain districts
(such as that mentioned in Wilks : History of Mysoor, Vol. 11,
p. 398, in connection with Tippu Sultan) might be accomplished by
the parasite mentioned, [*‘a parasitic scale insect (possibly a
species of Wiaspis) found on most Indian opuntias at Kew "]
without supposing the sudden appearance and disappearance of
a form of cochineal. . . .

Dr. Bow.ne (Report, July 26, 1897) obtained grana ayloctus (?)
insects from Ganjam and found these on the yellow flowered
opuntia ; they lived for a short time, and only a little longer on
the red. He accordingly inferred that, ag a measure of extermi-
nation of opuntia, the rearing of any form of cochineal was
attended with so much difficulty that it was a failure. But it
may be asked, would similar failure necessarily result with all the
other species of scale insects seen on the opuntias? (Watt:
Commercial Products of India, p. 347.)
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dispatch from head-quarters, dated on the preceding
day; it related to promotions and matters of detail ;
and a postscript was added, stating that the General
would march on the 14th for Velladi; a piece of
intelligence which he had carefully concealed. This
measure appears to have been adopted by the
General, on the tardy persuasion that the reiterated
intelligence of the Sultaun’s descent was not entirely
unfounded. Velladi is on the nearest road from the
pass by Denaickencota to Coimbetoor, but the direct
road ‘to the same place from Sattimungul, fifteen
miles lower down the river, is that on which Colonel
Floyd was marching and had been invariably used
by every convoy and detachment for the last month.
To cross from- Cheyoor, his present ground, to
Velladi, was nearly twenty miles: the Sultaun, as
soon as he had time to examine his intelligence at
leisure, caused a report to be circulated, that he had
moved to an intermediate position, towards that
place; in the hope that Colonel Floyd might be
induced to pursue his route to Coimbetoor, and leave
General Medows’s division without support: but
this intelligence had an effect exactly the reverse of
that it was intended to produce, by impressing on the
mind of Colonel Floyd the absolute necessity. of
attempting, at all risks, to force the junction, as the
only chance for the ultimate preservation of the
army ; and if the report were true, it afforded the
farther hope of entangling the enemy between two
fires. He accordingly moved at two o’clock ; at day-
light he heard and answered three signal guns:
General Medows had also heard the firing of the pre-
ceding day, and three guns fired at eight at night, to
indicate the situation of the detachment ; but distant
sounds are referred with little accuracy to their true
directions, and had not enabled him to determine the
situation of his detachment.

. Colonel Floyd pursued his march, and arrived at
Velladi, at eight at night, without seeing an enemy,
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the troops having been three days without eating.
In thle course of the march, however, he had met two
native horsemen of the General’s body-guard, who, in
the anxiety produced by the firing, and the uncer-
tainty of its direction, had been sent as a sort of
forlorn hope, on the preceding evening, to endeavour
to discover the detachment, and communicate the
requisite intelligence. From them' he ascertained,
that General Medows had marched that morning
through Velladi to Denaickencota; and a reciprocal
anxiety was excited on his account. The two men
and their horses were quite exhausted, it was obvious
that no fresh horse or man was to be found in the
detachment ; but the vital importance was still more
obvious of stopping the farther advance of the Gene-
ral; and Brigade-Major Dallas volunteered and
executed alone this essential service. He found the
army ten miles in advance of Velladi, and reported
the existence and the wants of the detachment.
The most urgent was that of surgeons for the wound-
ed, (two surgeons having been killed,) and an
immediate refreshment of biscuit and spirits for the
Europeans, the sepoys being already occupied in
dressing the rice which they always carried on their
backs; these wants were supplied in the course of the
night, and the next morning the General retraced his
steps to Velladi. His reception of "Colonel Floyd
was & noble example of candour: *“ My dear Colonel !
your's is the feat, and mine the defeat.” The Gene-
ral was fond of epigram, and it was usually well
pointed.

The casualties of the 13th and 14th amounted
to 436 men killed and wounded, 34 horses, and six
guns. Of the killed and wounded, the Europeans,
including artillery men, were 128; the natives 308.
The 16th and 17th were employed in arrangements
for the care of the wounded and dispatching them to
the hospital at Coimbetoor. On the 18th the united
corps made a short march in the direction of Cheyoor,
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and on the 20th, encamped in its vicinity : the first Sept.20.
intention of this movement appears to have been to
offer battle to the enemy; but from Cheyoor the
General returned to Coimbetoor, where he was joined
by Colonel Stuart’s division after the capture of
Palgaut. The junction of the two corps had in the
meanwhile disappointed the Sultaun’s expectatians,
aud he retired north of the river, not so much in the
expectation of attack, as to be enabled to keep the
anniversary of ten days, of the martyrdom of the son
of Ali; originally a ceremonial of mourning for that
sect exclusively, afterwards of exultation to their
opponents, and finally in India, a frantic exhibi-
tion without an object in which both unite. Colonel
Stuart found the ceremonial observed with the
customary phrenzy by the garrison of Palgaut during
the siege, and under restriction had even allowed a
similar indulgence to the Mahommedans of the be-
sieging force, without the slightest impediment to
the operations of the siege.

The army, with the exception of its minor
detachments, and the corps appointed to escort the
convoys, was now re-united at Coimbetoor, and
marched in pursuit of the enemy: the draught and 29
carriage cattle had become well practised, and gene-
rally in excellent condition, from the superior forage*
of this district. To restore the condition of cavalry
once over-worked, is known to be a slow and difficult
process; but the infantry and artillery, with the
equipments of the army in every department, were
in the best marching order; and with equal intelli-
gence would have forced the enemy to action. In
six marches, General Medows, pursuing the route of
the enemy, round by the BahvAny to the Caveri,
found Eroad, successively abandoned by his own
garrison, and by its captors after emptying the store-
houses. Its unfitness fo « depdt, was illustrated by
the first orders issued after the Sultaun’s descent had

* Chiefly the Holous Saccharatus, and Holcus Spicatus.

WH 26
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beén fully ascertained, by his attack of the advanced
division ; the battalion which constituted its garrison,
was ordered to retire to Caroor, leaving one company
under a native officer, who, on the appearance of the
Sultaun’s army capitulated, and the condition was
actually observed, of permitting the company to
march to Caroor.

From Eroad, the Sultaun proceeded due south
closely followed by the English army; measuring
its capacity for marching, by his former experience
of the tardy movements necessary for protecting
convoys, he had on the day the English army left
Eroad, marked out his encampment, about sixteen
miles from that place, intending to push at the
convoy advancing from Caroor, or move to Dara-
poram or Coimbetoor, according to the direction
which might be taken by General Medows. Most
of the tents were pitched, and the foragers were
out, when his light troops brought intelligence
that the English advanced-guard would soon be
in sight. The great drum immediately beat, and
the army, overtaken at once by the night, and a
severe fall of rain, was kept from dispersion by the
light of the Sultaun's personal flambeaux. He
marched all night, and if the circumnstances had
been known to General Medows;, he could with
certainty and advantage, have brought him to action
on the ensuing day. He halted however after a
short march, to receive his convoy from Caroor,
while the Sultaun rapidly pursued his course
southward.

It had been his original design to avail himself
of an expected delay in the junction of the English
convoy from Caroor, to double back upon Coimbetoor,
and possess himself of the field hospital, valuable
stores, and battering train deposited, not- mounted,
in thay untenable post, and he made his next march
in that direction; but the place had been oppor-
tunely reinforced by three regular battalions of the
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Madras establishment,'” and one corps of Travan-
coreans, sent by Colonel Hartley, who had arrived at
Palgaut, in conformity to the general instructions he
had received in September: on receiving this intelli-
gence, the Sultaun took the direction of Daraporam.
The garrison of that place was chiefly composed of
convalescents, about one hundred Europeans® and
two hundred sepoys, unprovided with cannon; three
batteries erected just beyond musquetry, would level
the miserable thin rampart in a few discharges ;
approaches were pushed to the ditch, and the
garrison surrendered on a capitulation, which was QOct.8.
unexpectedly observed.

The General, after receiving his convoy, returned 15.
to Coimbetoor : recent events had shewn the ex-
pediency of making this weak place more capable of
defence, before the departure of the armny, and orders
to effect the same object, were soon afterwards sent
to Caroor and Dindigul. " These objects being pro-
vided for at Coimbetoor, to the extent that was
practicable, he again put the army in motion to seek
the enemy, in the direction of Eroad. Farther stores
were wanting from Caroor, and a detachment was
made on the route, covered by the march of the 20.
army, which waited its arrival at Eroad, whence a 25.
supporting corps was sent to meet and facilitate its Nov. 2.
arrival. On approaching Eroad, a large mass of the

! Colone! Hartley on arrival at Palgaut from Bombay with a
detachment of the Bombay army released the Madras
there and sent them, on to Coimbatore,—the 10th, 13th, and 14th
Regiments of the Madras Army under Captain Knox. (Wilson:
History of the Madras Army, Vol, III, p. 197.)

2 Details of His Majesty’s Foot, 62 non-commissioned rank
and file.

Details of Company's infantry, 74 non-commissioned
rank and file,

Ensign Blackall, 2nd Battalion, and 173 men. Captain
Evans and three officers, Madras Europeans. Captain Fothering-
ham, 20th Battalion (sick). Lieutenant Wardrop, His Majesty's
62nd Regiment (siok).
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Woulsa was met proceeding from the westward of
Eroad, whence they had been compelled to depart by
the Sultaun’s command, in order that no population
should remain to give intelligerice of his movements,
in a country covered by his light cavalry for the
same purpose; the object was much canvassed, but
not understood in the English army. In the
neighbourhood of the camp, the usual straggling
scouts were seen, but whenever a patrole was pushed
to the westward, it met with increasing numbers. A
strong corps under Colonel Floyd was at length sent
to force a more extensive reconnoissance, and dis-
covered that the Sultaun’s whole armny had crossed
several days before, above the confluence of the
Bahvany and Caveri, and had proceeded to the
northward. General Medows began to cross on the
ensuing day, at a ford below Eroad, so deep as to
make 1t necessary for the cattle to swim over, the
stores and ammunition to be carried on men’s heads,
and the tumbrils crossing under water to be opened
and dried in the sun on the opposite side, before it
could be re-packed. And he followed with all
expedition, to check the mischief in the Sultaun’s
contemplation.

.Tippoo had heard when last passing Sattimungul
of the actual invasion of BAramahal, and proceeded
with about three-fourths of his army in that direction,
leaving the remainder to watch the motions of
General Medows, under the orders of Kummer-u-
Deen, now first restored to military command since
1787, by transferring to his charge the elephant and
insignia of Seyed Saheb, who was thus tardily
disgraced for his flight up the pass of Gujjelhutty.*

! Genoral Medows left the 1st Battalion of Europeans, and
the 14th, 16th and 20th Native Battalions behind. The Euro-
peans were stationed at Dindigul and Caroor, the 14th Battalion
at Coimbatore, and the 20th at Caroor. The 16th was distri-
buted hetween these garrisons. (Wilson: History of the Madras
Army, Vol. II, p..198.)




CHAPTER XXXVI.

English centre army under Colonel Maxwell —compo-
sition and strength—enters Bdramahdl—move-
ments—cavalry drawn into an ambuscade—
Tippoo shews his whole army—draws off at night
—Renewed demonstration— Departure in con-
sequence of the approach of General Medows—
lis movements—mistakes the Sultaun’s army for
Colonel Maxwell's—Junction— Relative move-
ments —Both point at the pass of Tapoor—In-
effective operations of the English—Tippoo escapes
—marches by Caroor to Trichinopoly—followed
by General Medows— His opinions and plan of
operation— resolves to ascend the ghauts by
Caveriporam—Lord Cornwallis determines per-
sonally to assume the conduct of the war—
General Medows ordered to lead the army to Mad-
ras— Striking influence of the seasons—T'ippoo’s
progress into Coromandel—Tiagar—commanded
by Flint—beats off two attempts to carry the town
or petta—Trinomalee—Negotiations at Pondi-
cherry, and embassy to Louis the XVIth.—Eng-
lish army arrives near Madras— T'ippoo’s ad-
vances to megotiation during the campaign—
Results of the campaign— Recurrence to the
operations in Malabar—Colonel Hartley's victory
over Hussein Aly, and itz important consequences
—General Abercromby arrives— takes Cannanore,
and reduces the whole province—Proceedings
of the. confederates—engaged in two sieges—
Copul and Darwar—Ten thousand horse ready
to join Lord Cornwallis—Advantages with
which he opened the campaign—Unfavourable
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anticipations of the Sultaun—Lord Cornwallis's
selection of a mew line of operations. with ils
reasons.

THE respectable corps of native infantry' which
had made a march of twelve hundred miles
from Calcutta, reached Conjeveram on the 1st of
August. The exertions recently made in the equip-
ment of the main or southern army had emptied the
arsenals, and caused some delay in the equipment of
the centre army, as it was named, which, by the
addition of three regiments of European infantry, one
regiment of native cavalry, and a formidable artillery,
was augmented to nine thousand five hundred wen,
and assembled at Arnee. Colonel Kelly, its com-
mander, died, and the command devolved on Colonel
Maxwell on the 24th of September. In conformity
to orders from General Medows, that officer entered
Baramahal on the 24th of October, in pursuance of
the original plan of the campaign. On the 1st of
November he approached Kistnagherry, the capital
and strongest post of the district’: the natural
strength and improved defences of this tremendous
1 Thig division from Bengal left_ﬁﬁe;lzn—é.h)iiui‘ on the 27th

February, reached Cuttack on the 7th April and Conjivaram on
the 1st August. It was commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel
Cockerell, and was made up as follows :—

Detachment of artillery under Captain Montagu.

Company of Artillery under Captain Barton.

3rd Battalion of Sepoys, Captain Balfour.

7th Battalion of Sepoys, Captain Rattray.

13th Battalion of Sepoys, Captain Macleod.

14th Battalion of Sepoys, Captain Archdeacon.

26th Battalion of Sepoys, Captain Scott.

28th Battalion of Sepoys, Captain Scrymgeour.

The strength of the infantry on arrival at Conjeevaram has
not been ascertained; but when at Ellore, in June, the total num-
ber of privates was 4,069, of whom 387 were sick. (Wilson:
History of the Madras Army, Vol. II, p. 198.)

The whole force was formed into three brigades.—
First Brigade.—Lieutenant-Cclonel Maxwell, His M